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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021

The directors present their Strategic report on the affairs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, The Group
financial statements censolidate the financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its
subsidiary undertakings ("Subsidiaries”) drawn up to 31 December 2021, Together tiese make up "Circle" ar the
"Group".

The Company was incorporated in the United Kingdom en 30 Deccinber 2016 und is a holding company within the
Group structure. On & January 2020 the Company completed its acquisition of GHG Holdings Limited, the holding
company of the BMI Healtheare group, therefore results of the Group are consolidated from this acquisition dale.

In July 2021, there was a change in shareholding ownership from 40 percent to 100 percent, resuiting in the controlling
party of the Company being MH Services Inlemational (UK) Limited, with the ultimate parent being Centene
Corporation.

Principal activities

The Group is a provider of healthcare services in the UK, treating privately insured, seif-pay and NHS-funded patieals at
hospitals across the UK. The Group also manages integrated care systems on behalf of commissioners, The Group’s
business strategy is founded on the beliet that the best way to deliver greal patient care is to empower the doctors, nurses
and all other staff who work ity ouy hospitals and clinies o put patients’ needs first.

Review of pperating and business performance and key performance indicators (I{PIs)
The principal fimancial KPIs for the Group are hospital caseload (activity), revenue and profit before tax.

Operating peviormance and the Covid-19 pandemic

The operating performance of the Group during 2021 continued to be affected by the Covid-19 pandemic, with the Group
continuing to support the wider UK health system in its response 1o the pandemic as well as returning to previaus
commissioning and operating arrangements with its major customers, The waves of infection trom variants of the Covid
virus during the year were a saurce of shorter-term disruption and this has continued to a lesser degree in the early
months of 2022 compared to 2020,

The Group was in a central contract with NTIS England for the first three months of 2021, being paid for activity carried
out {subject to 2 minimum guaranies), after which contracts reverted to arrangements with local commissioning groups
and NHS trusts. These arrangements included a continuation of provision of complex treaiments, including for cancer, to
support the NHS's response to the pandemic.

The Group carried out 283,150 procedures during 2021 and received 1.6 miliion outpatient visits, compared with
226,459 procedures and 1.2 miflion outpatient visits during 2020, with the year-on-year increase reficcting the lessened
effect of Covid during the period and the build back of historical treatment pathways and patient flows. The Group saw a
substantial increase in demand for freatment from patients paying for themselves, alongside increases in activity from
PMland NHS-funded patients,

Financial performance
The movements in these KPIs are a result of the aperating perfonnance described above.

Revenue was £1,052 million for the year to 31 December 2021 (2020: £985 million).

Exceptional items of £11.6 million (2020: £41.1 miltion) recorded within operating profit relate to the following items:
+ The Group incurred £4.1 million of costs in relation to the acquisition and integration of the group farmerly known as
BMI Healtheare into the Group (2020; £4.5 million).

+ The Group incurred £7.4 million of impairment charges following the assessment of asset impairment as at 31
December 2021 (2020: £36.6 million).

+ The Group incurred £0. 1 million of other exceptional casts (2020: £nil).

The loss before tax fram continying operations was £51.4 million {2020: loss of £63.2 million).

The tax charge for the year was £1.3 million {2020: credit of £2.9 million). The resulting net loss afler tax for the period
was £52.7 million {2020: ret logs of £60.4 million).

e
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Cirele Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Finauncial position

The Group's Stateiment of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021 showed equity of £43 4 million, compared with
equity of £96.0 million as at 31 December 2020. This decrease was a result of the foss afer tax in the year as noted
above.

Outlook

The Group's large hospital network, capacity and geographical footprint, including its intensive care facilities, means that
the Group is well placed to serve diagnostie, surgical and ather treatment demand from patients, on private pay and NHS
pathways. This demand may hawever be disrupted in the event of resurgence of the pandemic, including amongst other
things through higher leveis of patient cancellations. The cost of providing care has increased as a result of the pandemic
with considerable pressure on clinical staffing availability and cost.

Capital projects

The Group made a significant investiment in its hospitals and technology during 2021, to increase capacity to meet
current and future demand and o continue to provide excellence it patient treatment in safe environments. The Group
invested a total of £36.0 million, including:

* a new standalone consulting, diagnostic and treatment eentre in Glasgow
« modular theatre capacity in hospitals in Nottingham and Blackburn to deliver rapid increases in capacity to support

patient needs in these areas
+ installation of major imaging equipment across the estate and the puschase of 5 mobile MRI and CT scanners to cnabie

flexible deployment to areas of highest diagnastic need
« investment in medical technology to promote excellence in patient treatment, including surgical robotics, and replacing

and upgrading clinical equipment across the estate
+ significant enhancements to the fabric of many hospitals to ensure excellent patient experience, including major

refurbishment and reconfigurations at five sitcs.

Financing and treasury transacfions

The Graup entered inte senior lending facilities in January 2020 to enable the acquisitian of GHG Holdings Limited
These senior facilities agreements ("SFA") required the Group to comply with certain financial covenants. During the
year to 31 December 2021 the SFA included a senior term loan of £178 willion, and a super senior term loan of £20
million, a revolving credit facility of £30 millien (the "RCF") and a capex facility of £50 miflion, of which £20 million
was drawn. Further details ave given in the Going Concern assessment elsewhere in this report.

In May 2022, this debt facility was extinguished and refinanced with a revelving credit facility of £250 millian provided
by a group of five banks. An amount of £180 million was drawn down under the facility at that time. Further details are
given in note 34 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Companies Act 2006 requires all companies to disclose and discuss the principal risks and uncertaintics that they
face which, in most cases, are normal business risks. The Group manages risks through its committee structure, including
governance committees, and through the usc of a regularly updated and reviewed risk register, and risk is discussed and
actioned on & regular basis by the directors.

The Group’s activities expose it to a number of non-financia! risks including political risk, reputational risk and cyber
risk, The Group's activities also exposa it to a humber of financial risks, including interest rate risk, credic risk, cash flow
risk and liguidity risk. Any use of financial derivatives to manage these risks is governed hy the group’s policies
approved by the Board of directors, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives to manage these
risks. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Enterprise visk identification and management

Risk is an unavoidable element of doing business. The Group’s risk management systems aim to provide assurance to the
Board of directors regarding the effectiveness of the Group's ability to manage risk. This is managed via the Governance
Assurance Framework and the Board Assurance Framework, under which matters of significance and impact are
reviewed by the Integrated Governance Committee ("IGC"), Operations Board, and the Audit and Risk Committee
("ARC™),

The following provides an averview of the principal business risk factors facing the Group, along with a description,
where relevant, of the mitigating actions in place.

Adeqnacy of insurance scope and coverage

The Group may be subject to litigation for medical claims or may be liable for damages which may not be covered by ils
insurance policies This liabiléty could lead to financia! exposure for claims not covered by the insucance paolicies, or to
an inerease in insurance premiums impacting future financial perinds. Regular reviews are conducted with the Group's
insurance brokers to ensure sufficient levels of cover are maintained across the Group, Further, frequent communication
with the clinical and operational functions are held to ensure a robust process for recording, investigaling and resclving
incidents.

Clinical risk

As with all hospital providers, clinical quality risk is a major consideration The Group has centrally managed clinical
governance siructure which is led by the Group's Chief Medical Officer who is a director of the Company. This siructure
includes senior staff across the aperational, clinical and central support teams. Each hospilal has its own local govemance
structure, while a team of clinical care quality specialists is dedicated to developing up to date and consistent clinical and
operational policies acrass all sites. Local governance committees work to a rigorous assurance framework, manage day
to day clinical risks through a risk register, provide appropriate training to staff and cansultanis, and report their findings
to the Group’s Integrated Governance Commitiee ("IGC") which is chaired by the Group’s Clinical Chairman and an
independent Board Director. The IGC in turn provides regular reporis to the boards of the relevant Group compaaies,
including the Company, facilitating ward-to-Board assurance,

Reputational risk

Reputational risk associated with poor clinical outcomes or patient satisfaction is mitigated by the facus on providing
high quality care at the Group’s facilities and canstantly seeking to improve clinical services through the activities of the
IGC and related assurance reviews.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 3| December 2021 (continued)

Contract and price risk

Privale medical insurance {*PMI*): the Group carries out consideruble activity under a small number of contracts with the
major private medical insurers, which are subject to periodic renegotiation as to the access of insurers’ members to the
Group's facilities and to the price of services. Changgs to or the ending of any of these cantracts, or to pricing within
them, conld affect the levels of activity or profilability of the Group. To mitigate these nisks, the Group seeks to maintain
good relationships with the private medical insurers, to contract on medium-tetin arrangements and to agree pricing
which takes into account potential increases in the Group's own cost base over time.

NHS: the Group carries out waork for the NHS in England under standard contracts with clinical commissioning groups
{using the electronic referral service), loca! cantracts with NHS Trusts and occastonally (as during the pandemic through
to early 2021) directly with central NHS crganisations. The nature of these contracts and the consequent access of NHS
patients {o the Group's facilities may be subject to change in the future. Tn general, the Group is paid the standard NHS
wariff for the treatment it carries out, sa is subject to the uncertainty of future tariff changes which are determined
centrally by the NHS. The Group aims to mitigate these risks by acting as a reliable partner to NHS commissianers and
cansistently providing high quality services to NE[S-funded patients {n a cost-effective manner.

PMI concentration

The Group is exposed to a highly concentrated PMI market, whereby the majority of PMI patient valumes come via the
tap four to five insurers, which could result in unfavourable terms when contracts with these PMI companies are due for
renewal, especially in the current cost pressures, The Group manages this yisk through active account management, and
demonstrating imprpovement across the hospital network whether that is through technology and clinicat equipment
investment, or increase scope of services offered lo patients.

Daia protection aud cyber risk

The Group is subject to data protection and cyber risk fram cybercrime, 1T systems failure and threats to data protection,
including data theft. The Group manages these risks through regular meetings of its Information Govemance Committee,
which has accountability for quality and safety of information and technalogy systems, assessing risk and performance,
making improvement recommendations and advising the Information Governance Committee and Board. The Group
alsn employs data protection and information security officers to oversee relevant risks, and carries oul periodic testing of
certain risks as part of its overall assurance programme. Further, the Group has in place cyber insurance cover, covering a
number of the first-party and third-party financial and reputational costs.

Governmeni policy and regulatory risk

The provision and regutation of healtheare in the UK, including that by the independent sector, is the subject of periodic
revicw by government and regulatory bedies. New regulations, and funding arrangements, may be introduced in the
future which could have an adverse effect on demand for the Group’s services (from different payor groups), its
operational costs and the nature and cost of regulatory compliance.

Warkforce availability risk

There is a shartage of nurses ané healtheare staff across the UK and overseas, which has led to an increased usage of
agency labour. In the short term, while activity is returning ta normal levels, the Company can utilise increased agency
staff to mitigate this shortage. However, in the medium to long term, this will impact on profitability and would not be
sustainable. Across the Group we are explaring various options to attract new talent to the Group including the use of
averseas nurses, or to reduce staff turnover via improved staff engagement
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 {continued)

Principal visks and uncertainties (continued)

Supply chain availability risk

The ongoing impact of Brexit and the Covid pandemic has resulted in a risk of shortages of various components utilised
by the Group in its operations. This risk has been managed via the combination of longer contracted terms with supplicrs
to safeguard against farge price changes, as well as a change in warehousing and logistics provider that has given the
Group better and increased capacity to hold components with long replacement lead times

Inflation risk

Given the global econamic conditions, and political uncertainty in Europe, there is an increased risk of higher levels of
inflation, particuiarly in energy costs, with consequent additional pressure on staff costs. The impact on the Group may
be an increase in direct costs for goods and services, for which not all can be covered by increased pricing. To wmitigate
this risk, where possible, the Company enters into long term purchase agreemenls to protect and limit against the full
effeet of cost inflation, The large majority of the Group's leases include a cap on the annual increases. Further, customer
prices are being reasonably increased where possible to reflect the increase in costs,

Interest rate risk

The Bank of England’s Monetary Pelicy Committes hes armounced a series of intecest rate rises during 2022 and further
rate rises are widely expected. [nterest on the Circte Group’s nesv £250 million revolving credit facility is variable based
on the Sterling Overniglt Index Average rate (SON1A) and so has exposed to changes in UK interest rates. Based on the
current drawn amount under the facility is £180 million, a 100 basis point increase in SONIA would result ina £1.8
mitlion increase in the Circle Group’s annuat interest cost.

Credit risk

The Group's principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, and investments

‘The Group's credit tisk is primarily attribulzble Lo its trade receivables. This is managed by regular monitaring of existing
customer accounts and credit checks on new customers before credit is provided. The amounts presented in the Statement
of Financia! Position are net of allowances for doubtful receivatles. An allowance for impairment is made when there is
an identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of cash
flows,

Cash flow and liquidigy risk

In the ordinary course of business, in arder to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufticient funds are available for ongoing
operations and future developments, the Group uses a mixture of long-term and short-tem: debt facilities. The Group
manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing
facilities are inaintained to cover any short-term liquidity requirements.

The maturity of the debt facilities existing as at 31 December 2021 are detailed in note 19.

Envirommental and climate change rvisk

“Te Cirele Group’s énergy and carbon reporting, as well as its approach Lo envirommental management, is disclosed in
the Direclors’ report on pages 12 and 13. The Directors have considered broader impacts of climate change and the
potential impacts on the business. Other than those matters disclosed on pages 12 and {3 of the Dircctors™ relating
consideration of the environmental impact of capital programmes, the Directors consider that climate change risk would
not have a material impast on the onerating model of nerformance of the business

(‘
,
|
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1))

Under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, directors of a cempany have a duty to promate the success of the
company. Specifically, it requires the ditector ofa comnpany to act in the way he or she considers, in good faith, would
maost likely promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole. In performing their duties
under section 172, the Board of directors {"Board") of the Company have had regard to the matters set out in scclioa
172(1) as follows:

a)  the likely cansequences of any decision in the long term;

The Board has sel long term strategic objectives for the Company facused on:

« clinical quality, patienl experience and market leading reputation;

* attracting and retaining the best people;

« investment in Mmfrastructure by improving the environment for patients and staff and capabilities;
« digital transformation to énable improved patient pathways, propesitions and efficiency; and

» business growth.

These pillars form the basis of a five-year plan which is monitored and updated periodically by the Beard. The
strategy and plan supports decision-making around capital investment and allows the board to forecast finding
requirements, debt capacily and financing options thal are required to deliver this. As described elsewhere in this
report, the debt facilities in place support the Company’s investiment plans.

The engagement with key stakeholders is described in sections b) to f) below and this forms a key part of the
decision making process of the Board and the committees of the Board in determining the future direction and
policies for the Company.

In developing the strategy, the Board aiso consider external factors such as the political, ecanomic, regulatory, and
competitive environment.

) the interests of the company’s employees
The Board understand the imporance of the Group’s employees to quality of care provided to patients, and so the
long-term success of the buginess.

There is regular engagement with employees through an Employee Voice Forum, weekly staff newsletters, and an
annual employee survey and engagement programsne. Pay and benefits are assessed against the wider healtheare
sector and regular salary benchmarking and pay review exercises are undertaken to allow clinical and other staff o
be paid at competitive levels in the market.

c) the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
The Board regularly reviews how the Group maintains positive relationships with ail of its stakeholders including

patients, consultants, suppliers and athers.

The Group’s patient satisfaction surveys are run by an independent third party and show that 98 percent woald
recommend our hospilals to their friends and fumily and 96 percent rated the averall quality of care as *very good’
or ‘excellent’. The Group also undertakes consultant surveys to gauge the views of the surgeons and other medical
consultants practicing in our hospitals, The Board reviews the results of these surveys. Supplicr retationships are
managed through the Group’s precurement team with longstanding relationships with key suppliers.

"The Group's principal risks and unceriainties set out risks that can impact the long-term success of the Group and
how these risks interact with out stakehaolders, The Directars actively seek information on the interaction with
stakeholders to ensure that they have sufficient information o reach appropriate conclusions aboul the risks face by
the Group and how these are retlected within the long-term plans.

d)  the impact of the company’s operations on the community and the enviroment;

The Group has an ongoing capital investment programme to improve the hospital estate and bring new medical and
diagnostic equipinent in ta the haspitals The capital project process considers the environmental impact and energy
efficiency of programmes of work to monitor and improve this over time.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1)) (continued)

¢) the desirability of the company ntaintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct

As a healtheare provider, the Board believe that maintaining the reputation of the Group is critical for the future
success. Clinical quality and governance is at the heart of the culture of the Group and receives significant focus at
Board level.

The Board is committed to high standards of business conduct and details of {he governance structures are set out in
the annual Quality Account. available on the Circle Health Groub website.

0 the ueed to act fairly as between members of the campany
The Group holds monthly meetings with shareholders represented. Shareholders have worked cffectively together to

agree the course for the long ler future of the Group.

The Company and its Board is committed 1o and has applied the principles of corperate governance contained in the
Wates Corporate Govemance Principles for large private companies for the year ended 31 Dlecember 2021. Further
explanation of how each principle has been applied is set out in the Statement of corporate governance arrangements.

Gaing coneern

Management of the Group has prepared liquidity forecasts for the pumpose of the going concern review and has also
applied various sensitivities. These forecasts and sensitivities have been reviewed by the Directors of the Company
together with Lhe underlying assumptions. The forecasts show that the Group has sufficient cash and facilities to provide
liguidity through the review perind.

The Group’s new sexior facilities are guaranieed by the Company’s ultimate pasent company, Centene Corporation, and
financial covenants for the facilities are measured at that level. The directors of the Company have reviewed covenant
compliance, and forecast performance for Centene Corporation, which indicate that these covenants will be complied
with throughout the forecast period with appropriate headroom.

After making enquiries, including reviewing the forecasts and sensitivities, the directors have concluded that they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources avaitable to them, to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements.

Further details regarding the adoption of the going cancern basis can be found in the Statement of accounting policies in

the financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Dircctors and signed an behalf of the Board.

S Sooy

Henry Davies
Chief Financial Officer

-?!.‘. September 2022
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2021

The Company and its board of directors ("the Board"} is committed to and has applied the principles of corporate
governance contained in the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large private companies for the year ended 31
December 2021, Further explanation of how each principle has been applied is set out below.

FPurpose and leadership

The Board and Company have regular cammunications with stakeholders. The key stakeholders and the specific forum
for engagement are listed belaw:

* Patients — patient feedback forms, complaints management policies, provision of information to Private Healthcare
Information Network ("PHIN") whase rolc it is to provide independent information to patients about private healthcare
providers

* Regulators — frequent relationship meetings with CQC, HIS and HIW and comununication via Independent Healthcare
Provider Network {("THPN")

* Employees — Employee Voice Forum ("EVF") and employee engagement programme

* Consullants — Medical advisory comunittees within each hospital ("MAC") chaired by a Hospital Clinical Chair

« NHS — local relationships with Trusts and NHS commissioning bodies (CCGs / ICBs) , and central relationsliips with
NHS England and other national NHS bodies

+ Insurers — relationships and regular engagement with the commercial tcam

* Suppliers - relationships and regular engagement with the procurement team

The Directors have established the following purpose statement for the Group “To provide the high quality, safc and
compassionate care our patients need and expect” supported by the principles of:

* “we believe that patients come first”;

* “we believe in our people™;

* “we believe 1hat ‘good enough’ never is™; and

* “we helieve in being open-minded and innovative™,

and also supported by the following vatues:

* “we value people who are selfless and compassionate™;
* “we value people who are collaborative and committed™;
* “we value people who are agile and brave®; and

* “we value people who are lenacious and creative™,

The Company is committed to building a cufture which encourages staff to speak up safely. During 2018 we relaunched
our “Raising Concerns at Work™ policy and estabiished the role of “Freedom to Speak Up Guardian”. “Freedom to Speak
Up” leads were appointed in each hospital and have the supporl of their local management teauns, the Group’s guardian
and our Chief Medical Officer who has Exceutive responsibility for “Freedom to Speak Up”.

The Company has various policies to mitigate the risk of conflicts of interest including the conflicts of interest and anti-
bribery and cortuption policies supported by a mandatory training programme. [n addition, all healthcare professionals
are required under their individual professional registrations to conduet themselves in an ethical manner and in the best
interests of patients. Relationships between the Group and medical consultants are disclosed on the Circle Health Group
website.

There are examples of how the directors have considered their dutics in rclation to s172 b), in the munner in which it
engages with employees.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Board compesition

The Clrcle Health Holdings Limited Board is comprised of Directors who have healthcare expericnce and/or other
relevant professional skills and experience. Details of Directors who have served over the period are included in the
Directars” Report.

Directors’ responsibilities

The Group has a clearly defined governance framework, based on Board and Governance Assurance Frameworks, and
committee  structures. The Board is swpported by the Inmtegrated Govemance Committee, which has primary
responsibility for the oversight of clinical and other related governance and risks, and the Audit and Risk Committee,
which has primary responsibility for the oversight of financial and related governance and risks in the Group, together
with a series of operational and governance boards, committees and sub-committees, with established terms of reference.

Opportunity and risk

‘The Company continually seeks opportunities to create value for stakeholders from growth in activity and improvement
in financial performance, using the existing assets of the Company and through investment in new facilities, equipment
and technology. The risks that threaten these opportunitics have been described earlier, and are under active
management through the Company’s risk management systems.

Remuneration

On any new senior appointment the board considers the market and remuneration packages that are commensunate to the
role. Short term incentive arrangements are based on the quality and performance of business. The market conditions are
reviewed on a regular basis. The Group’s Gender Pay Report 2021 is available on the Circle Health Group website.

Stakeholder relationship and ¢cngagement

There are various mechanisms for collecting information to inform the Board’s view of the Group's impact on
stakeholders, Information about patients is obtained from varieus clinical indicators and patient reported outcome
measures (PROMS). The Group monitars its impact on the environment through review of the carbon emissions
reporting (see further information on this efsewhere in the Directors” Report). Other stakeholder engagement
mechanisms are set out in the first principle above around Purpose and Leadership,

S e, e e
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2021

The Directors present their report on the affairs of the Company, tegether with the audited financial statements and
auditor’s report, for the year ended 31 December 2021,

Details of events affecting the Company since the financial perind end, an indication of likely future developments in the
business, details of principal risks and wncertainties, financial risk management, engagement with employees, suppliers and
customess aud a slalsuknt on going concern have been included n the Strategic report and therefore form part of this
Directors' repart by reference.

Principal activity

The Group is a provider of healllcare services in the 1K, treating privately insured, self-pay and NHS-{unded patients at
hospitals across the UK. The Group also manages integrated care systems on behaf of commissioners. The Group’s
business strategy is founded on the belief that the best way to deliver great patient care is to empower the doctors, nurses
and all ofher staff who work in our hospitals und clinics to put patients’ needs first.

Dividends

The Directors do not propose a dividend for the year (2020: £nil).

Directors

The Directors who served throughout the year, except as noted, and subsequently are as shown below:

Lord Hutton

Brent Layton

Paolo Pieri

Peter Sullivan

Ienry Davies

Paul Manning

Aslley Lewis (resigned 1 July 2021)
Torquit Macaaughten (resigned | July 2021)
Beverley Tew (appointed 23 February 2022)

Supplier payment policy

The Company’s policy is to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction. Trade
creditors of the Company were equivalent to 40 (2020: 52) days’ purchascs, based on the average daily amount inveiced
by suppliers during the period.

Directors’ and officers’ insurance

The Company has procured qualifying third party indemnity insurance for atl Directors and Officers of the Company and
all Group companies. The Company has directors' and officers' insurance for the benefit of, anongst others, the directors
of the Company, whicl is in place at the date of this report,

RO T AR AR e T T
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Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 {continued)

Disabled employees

Applications for employntent hy disabled persans are always fully considered, bearing in mind the abilitics of the
applicant concerned. Tn the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their
cmployment with the Company continucs and that appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Company that the
training, carcer development and promotivn ol disabled persons should, as far as possible, be idencieal to that of other
employées.

Employee consultation

The Comnpany places considerable value on the involvement of its employees, and has continued to keep them informed on
maters affecting them as employees and on the various fuetors affecting the performance of the company. This is achieved
through formal and informal meetings, the company newsletter, and regular emails. Employee representatives are
consulted regularly on a wide range of matters affecting their current and firture interests and a staff survey is completed
and reparted on each year.

Energy and carbon reporting

The data reported on below inciude all sources ol Green House Gas ("GHG"} emissions and energy usage as required
under The Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups {Accounis and Reports) Regulations 2008 as amended. This
has been compiled in line with the *Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon

reporting guidance 2020°.

Circle ernissions and energy usage

For Circle Health Holdings Limited, GHG emissions and energy usage date for period | January to 31

December
2021 2020
Tonnes of Tonnes of
COye CQye
Gas consumption (scope 1) 13,864 12,213
Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes (scope 1) 923 175
Lo " including for th
Emissions from electricity purchased for own use, including for the 14,237 12,264
purposes of transport (scope 2)
Coal - industrial (scope 1) 877 512
Other petreleum gas {Calor) {scope 1) 14 &
Fuet oil - generator fuel (scope 1) 138 181
Emissions from business lravel in employce-owned vehicles where company
Lo 221 153
pays for fuel indirectly {scope 3)
Tatal 30,325 25,604
Erergy consumpiion used to calculate emissions (kWh) 150,555,533 90,018,377
Revenue (£'m) 1,052 935
Tonnes of COe per revenue {per £'m) 29 26

Dala shown for 2020 in the table reflect the emissions for the entire group, as if it had been operating as one business
for the full financial vear 1 January to 31 December 2020, and reflects the increase in activity across the Group as the
UK emerged from the pandemic.

4
¥
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Energy and carbon reporting {continued)

During the financial year the Group continued to develop its systems and management approach to reduce its
environmental impact. The Health and Safety comrmitiee regularly reviews and evaluates opportunitics to reduce our
environmental impact and related costs. The cortinued focus remains on the major utilities of electricity, gas, water and
wastewater dluiy with the wateial conunoditics of both heallhcare and general waste management and recycling.

The Environmental management process is broken down into two key management areas: Waste Management {including
recycling) and Utilitics Managemend.

Wastc management, including recycling elements, are covered and monitored by the Regional Health and Safety managess
in cooperation with local site Waste Officers; Utilities management elements are managed by the Regional Engineering
Managers with local support from environment officers and site engincers. This delegation of responsibilities makes best
use of the skiliset within the teams.

We have foflowed the 2021/2022 UK Government environrental reporting guidanee and used the (fHG Protocol

Caorporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (revised edition) and emission factors from the UK Gowerament’s GHG
Conversion Factors for Company Repotting 2020 to calculate these disclosures. We are working towards becoming Net

Zero by 2050, and are investigating aptions to help aclieve this aim.

Disclosure of information to the auditor

Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
* 5o far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
+ the director has taken all the steps that she or he ought to have taken as a director in order to make herself or himself

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 5418 of the Compaties Act
20086,

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

o Ao,

Director: Henry Davies

?C-‘«.. September 2022

i
I3
&
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' responsibilities statement
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Statement of Directors’ vesponsihilities in respect of the financiak statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
taw and regulations.

Company |aw requires the directors to prepare fiuaucial slateueats for each financial year. The directors are

required (o prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with [nternational Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRS"), and Article 4 of the [AS regulation, and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicabje law). The directors must not approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Comparny for that period. In preparing the parent
company financial statemeits, the Directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

+ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

= state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements; and

¢ prepare the financial statements on the going concem basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue jn business.

In preparing the Group financial statenents, [AS | requires that directors:

spropetly select and apply accounting policies;

spresent information, including accounting palicies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

sprovide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users lo
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial
performance; and

*make an assessment of the Company’s ability (o continuc as a going concerm.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable acouracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and

other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and infegrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statemengs may differ from legislation in ather jurisdictions.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Independent auditor’s report
to the membets of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In pur opivion.

« the financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited (the *parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) give a
truc and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of the group’s
losg for the year then ended,

» the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adapted international
accounting standards;

» the parent company financial stalements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Acconnting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

+ the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

« the consolidated and parent company statements of financial position;
« the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in eguity;
* the consolidated statement of cash flows; and

» the related notes 1 to 36; and

+ the related notes to the parent company financial statements [ o (3.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law
and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Einancial Reposting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accouating Practice).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further deseribed in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial

statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s™) Ethical Standard, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our apinion,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited (continued)

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statemerts, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the finangial statements is appropriate.

Our gvaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concein basis of accounting included:

» reviewing the inodel used to prepare the forecasts, testing of clerical accuracy of those forecasts and our assessment of the
historical accuracy of forecasts prepared by management;

« challenging the assumptions used in the forecasts by reference to market data;

« an assessment of the beadroom with reference to the financial covenants in place; and

= recalculation of management’s sensitivity analysis and assessment of mitigating actions available.

Based on the work we have performed, we have nol identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s ability to continuc as a going
concer for a period of af least twelve months from when the financiaf statements are authorised for fssue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern arc described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information inchuded in the annnal report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in
our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other informatéon and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statcments themselves. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatemment of this othier information, we are required to report that
fact.

We have notling to report in this regard.

Respunsibilities of divectors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilitics statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal controd as the directors
determine is necessary (e enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error,

In prepacing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability
1o continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 1o going concern and using the going concern bagis
of accounting unless the directors ¢ither intend to Hiquidate the group or ithe parent company of to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

[P
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free (rom material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditer’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with [SAs (UK} will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements c¢an arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the ecanomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financisl statements.

A further description of our responsibilitics for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website al:
wiww. ftc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibitities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Extent o which the audi¢ was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraod

Irregularities, including fraud, arc instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in linc with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect materiaf mnisstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud, The extent to
whicl our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation of
their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations, We alse enquired of management
and those charged with governance about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks thal the group operates in, and identified the key laws
and regulations that:

» had a direct effect on the detennination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These included the
UK Companies Act, tax legistation, employment Jaw, Health and Social Care Act Regulations and Care Quality Commission
Regulations; and

« da not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the group’s ability
to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included (icneral Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), anti-bribery legislation
and anti-maoney laendering regulations.

We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as tax, valuations, pensions and
1T regarding the opportunitics and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might
occur in the financial statements.

As a result of performing the sbove, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following area, and our specific
procedures performed to address it are described below:

« manual adjustments to revenue relating to discounts: we challenged the rationale behind the manual revenue adjustments
identifed, inspected the key inputs and supporting calculations for the adjustments and evaluated the recogpition as revenue in
accordance with IFRS 15.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of
management override. [n addressing the risk of fraud through management override of conirols, we tested the appropriateness
of joumal entrics and other adjustiments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative
of a poteatial bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal

course of business.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited (continued)

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud (continued)

En addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

* reviewing financial staiemeni disclosures by testing to supporting docunicnlalion lo assess compliance with provisions of
relevanl Jaws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial stalements;

» performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due Lo fraud;

» enquiring of management and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, and instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

« reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.

Report on other fegal and regulstory requirements

Qpiniens on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work underiaken in the course of the audit:

* the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financiat statements; and

* the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment oblained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic repon or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required 1o report in respect of the following matiers if, in cur opinion:

» adequate accounting records have nat been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; o¢

+ the parent company financial slatements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

* certain disclosures of directors” remuneration specified by law are not made; or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility 10 anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for cur audit work,
for this repon, or for the opinions we have formed.

Paul Schofield FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Landon, United Kingdom

Date: 3DSeptember 2022
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2021

The notes on pages 25 to 59 form part of these {inancial statements.

Notes 2021 2020 :
£2000 £:000 :
;
Revenue 4 1,051,642 984,876 i
Coslulsales (845,520) {772,492) r
Gross profit 206,122 212,384
Administralive expenses (111,860) (98,470) ;
Operating profit before exceptional items 94,262 113,914 ]
Exceptional administrative expenses 5 (11,609) (41,124
Operating profit 6 82,653 72,790
Profit an disposal of subsidiary 26 3,267 -
Finance incame 8 54 48]
Finance costs 9 (137,376) (136,515)
Loss before tax (51,402) (63,244) P
Income tax (charge)/credit 10 (1,274) 2,868 »
Loss for the year (52,676) {60,376) ;
(Loss)/profit attributable fo;
Owners of the parent {53,594) (61,022)
Nor-controlling interests 918 646
(52,676) (60,376)
B
L
b
[
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Page 20

31 December

31 December

2021 2020
£2000 £004
ILoss for the year (52,676) (60,376)
Items that will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (all net of tax):
Actuarial gain/{loss) an scheme obligations 4,028 (26,198}
Actuarial (loss)/gain on scheme assets {3,862) 10,887
Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset 8,373 8418
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes 8,539 (893)
Net effect in reserves arising from movements on future scheme commitment {8,539) 893
Income tax relating to items that will nat be reclassificd - -
Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Total comprehensive expense for the year (52,676) {60,376)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statement of other comprehensive income.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2021

Page 21

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Goodwill

Property, planl and equipment
Investments

Current assets
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Assels classified as held for sale
Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions

Lease liabilities

Liabilities divectly associated with assets classified as beld for
sale

Non-current liabilities
Provisions

Loats and other borrowings
Deferrcd tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Total liabilities
Net assets

Share capital

Share premium

Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to owners of the pareat
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests
Total equity

Notes

Il
12
13
[5

6
18

32

21
22
17

32

22
19
20
17

24
24

25

2021 2020
£000 £000
46,413 56,652
147,478 147,478
1,734,676 1,765,684
5,142 3,407
1,933,709 1,973,221
17,276 16,884
75,712 76,515
102,915 115,857
195,903 209,256
- 29,575
2,129,612 2,212,052
(169,709) (178,453)
(17.086) (18,142)
(8,065) (1,117)
(194,861) (203,712)
- (25,398)
(118) (154)
(214,038) (211,885)
(11,133) {9,240
(1,666,021)  (1,665,687)
(1851310) _ (1,886,966
(2,086,170) _ (2,116,076)
43,442 95,976
21 21
201,476 201,476
(160,487) (107,186)
41,010 93,391
2,432 1,583
43,442 93,976
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2021 (continued)

‘The financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited were approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised for issue on .‘?c September 2022. They were signed on its behalf by:

é@ﬂﬂé‘&x

Name: Henry Davies
Director

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements,
The company’s registered number is 10543098,
The company's registered address is 1st Floor, 30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, England,
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2021
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Balance us af 31 December 2019

Issue of shares (note 24)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests
Dividends

{Loss)fprofit for the year

Other comprebensive loss for the year
Balance as at 31 December 2020
[ssue of shares (note 24)

Amgunts vested under [FRS 2 (note 24)
Dividends

{Loss)profit for the year

Other compreliensive Joss for the year

Balance as at 31 Deceber 2021

The notes an pages 25 to 55 form part of these financial stateiments.

Non-
Share Share  Accumulaled controtling
capital premium lasses Tatal interest Total equity
£'600 £9300 £004 £'000 £2900 £'608
21 75,3491 {46,084) 29,318 (£,005) 28,323
- 126,085 - 116,085 - 126,085
R - - . 2,738 2,738
- - - - (194) {794y
- - (61,022) {61,022) 646 (60,376)
21 201,476 (107,108) 94,391 1,585 95,976
- - 213 213 - 213
. - - - (1) (7
- - {53,5%4) (53,554) 218 (52,676)
21 201,476 (160,487) 41,0i0 24432 43442
——

mari U2, e o

;
:
L

I
L
L
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Page 24

Cash flows from operaling aclivities

Net cash flow fron opcrating activities {note 29)
Interest received

Interest paid

Tax paid

Net cash inflows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends received from associates

Purchase of computer software

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net proceeds on disposal of subsidiary (note 26)
Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired

Net cash outflows from investing activities
Repayment of leasc liabtlties
Draw down on finance lease facility

Net proceeds from loans and borrowings
Shares issued

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities
Net {decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at ¢the end of the year
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash at bank and in hand

Cash and cash equivalents reported in assets held for sale

Cash and bank balances

* The prior year figures have been restated to show:

2021 2020
£'000 £000
{Restated)*

184,393 208,202
54 481
{129,727) (115,819)
(3,728) -
50,992 92,864
2,450 -
(1,022) {4,374)
(57,153} (34,966}
677 5,226

788 -

- {228,689)
(54,260) (262,803)
(13,496) (14,557
- 8,730

- 158,226

- 126,085
{13,496} 278,484
(16,764) 108,545
119,679 11,134
102,915 119,679
102,915 115,857
- 3,822
102,915 119,679

1) interest payments made on lease liabilities pertaining to right-of-use buildings within ‘[nterest paid’ rather than
‘Repayment of lease liabilities’, increasing interest paid by £105.2m and reducing repayment of lease liabilitics by

£105.2m compared to the figures presented in the prior year financial staternents.

2} working capital movements relating to assets and liabilities classified as held for sale included in the cash flow
statement, increasing cashflows from operating activities by £3.8m and increasing cash and cash equivalents bajance

by £3.8m (see nate 29 for further information).
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

FPage 35

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021

General information

Circle Health Holdings Limited (the 'Company’ or ‘Group') is a private company limited by shaves that is im¢orparated, registered and domiciled in the United
Kingdam under the Conpanies Act 2006. The registered affice is Lst Floor 30 Cannon Sireet, London, EC4M 6XH. The nature of the company's operations
and its principal activities are st out in the Strategic Report on pages 2 10 8. The financial statements are for the year ended 31 December 2021,

Sigamificant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The Group financial slatements consolidate thase of the parent company and its subsidiaries, The parent company financial statements present information

about the Comipany as a separale enlity and nat about jts Group.

The lidated financial have been prepared i accordance with 1FRS, IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS 1C) and Companies Act 2006
applicable to campanies reporting under TFRS.

The lidated financial stat have been prepared under the historical cast convention.

Ttems included in the results of ezeh of the Group®s subsidiaries are measuved using the functional currency, which in afl instances is Pounds (GBP). The
Group’s lidated financial stat is and parent company statements arc preseated in Pounds. This is the functional currency of the Groop as this is the
main currency in which the Group operates, Al! financial information has been rounded 1o the neavest thousand.

The Company has elected to prepare the Company financizl statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Staudard 104, 'Reduced Disclosure
Framework' (FRS 101). The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with The Companies Act 2006 as applicable fo companies

using FRS 101,
These are presented on pages €0 (o 65.

The following exemptions from the requirements of IFRS have been applied in the preparation of the Campany financial statements:

+ 145 7, ‘Statement af cash flows' and paragraph 10{d) of TAS | (statement of cash flows)

« Tle requicemient in [AS 24, 'Related party disclosurcs ' to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or mote members of a group

» The requicements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Discloswures

+ The requirement in paragraph 38 of [AS | P jon of Financial 5 to present comparative information in respect of paragraph 7%(1)(iv) of 1AS

The principal accounting policies for the Group and Company are set out below:
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Cirele Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial stalements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 {continued)

2, Sigrificant aceaunting policies (coidinued}
New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

Tnpact of e initial application of Interesi Rate Reacluiark Reforn amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

In the cusrent year, the Group adopied the Phase 2 amendments Tuterest Rate Benchmark Reform—A d o IFRS 9, [AS 39, TFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16. Adopting these amendments enables the Group to reflect the effects of transitioning from interbank offered rates (IBOR) to alternalive benchmark
interest rates (algo referred to 03 ‘rigk free rates’ w RFRa) willious giving rise 1o accountnng umpacts that would not provide useful information to users of
financial staterients. The Group has not restated the prior pedod. Instead, the amendments have been applied retrospectively with any adjustments
recognised in tlte appropriate components of equity as at 1 Jauuary 2021,

The Phase | amendnients did not ispacl the group as it does not hedge its interest rate benchmalk exposures. Phase 2 ameadments ace relevant to the Group
bewause in the current period modifications in response 1o the reform have been made to the Group®s non-dativalive financial insiruments that mature post
2021.

As a result of the Pliase 2 amendments when the contractual terms of the Group's bank borrowings are ded as a direct q of (he inlerest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining the contractual cash flaws is cconomically ¢quivalent to the basis imniediately preceding the change,
the Group changes the basis for determining the contractual cash flows prospectively by revising the sffecrive interest rate, If additional clianges are made,
whiclt are not directly related to the reform, the appliceble requirements of IFRS 9 are applied to the other changes. See nate 19 for further details regarding
chanpes inade 1o the LIBOR-linked bank bomrowings.

New and revised IFRS Standards in issue bat not yet effeetive

At the date of authorisation of thes¢ financial stateents, the Group las not applied the following new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but
are hot yet effective:

[FRS 17 (including the June 2020 Amendments Insurance Contracis

to IFRS 17}

Amendments te IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sule or Contribuiion of Assets between an Investar and its Associate ar Jobit Ventre
Amendments to TAS { Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Anendments 1o IFRS 3 Refereree to the Concepingl Framework

Ansendments to TAS 16 Froperty, Plant end Equipmeni—Proceeds before ntended Use

Amendments to JAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fuifiliing a Contract

Annual Improvements ta IFRS Standards 2018- Amendments (0 IFRS T Fivst-time Adoption of International Financial Reporiing Standards,
2020 Cyele IFRY 9 Finanvial instrinpents, 1FRS 16 Leases, and JAS 41 Agriculinre

Amendments to IAS | and IFRS Practice Disclasure of Aceiniting Policies

Statement 2

Amendments to [AS 8 Dufinition of Accounting Esthmenes

Amendments o [AS 12 Deferred Tux related to Assets und Liabifliies arising fram a Single Transaciion

The directors do not sxpeet that the adoption of the Standards listed abeve will have a material impact on the financial stateinents of the Group in future
periods, excepi as noled below:

Amendmenss to INS | Preseutatlon of Financial Statements— Classification of Liabitities as Current or Non-current
The amendnients to IAS 1 affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or non-carrent in the statement of financial position and not the aniount or
timing of recagnition of any asset, Yability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed abaut those fiems.

The amendments clarify that the classificetion of liabilities as current or non-current is based on zights ihat are in existence at the end of the reporting period,
specify that classification is waffected by expeciations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlenvent of a liability, explain that rights are
in existence if covenants ere complied with at the end of the reporting peried, and intraduce a detinition of ‘sertlement’ to make clear that settlement refers
ta the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other asse1s or services.

The amendments acc applied retrospectively for amuel periods beginning on or after | January 2023, with early application permitted.

Ameudments te IFRS 3 Bushizess Combdinations—Reference to the Conceptial Framework

The amendments update [FRS 3 5o that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the 1989 Framework. They also add to IFRS 3 a requirement
that, far obligatiens within the scope of TAS 37, an acquirer applics TAS 37 to deerenine whether at the acguisition date a present obligation exists as a result
of past events. For a levy that would be within the scope of TFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC 21 1o determine whetler the obligating svent that
gives risc Io 2 liability 1o pay the levy has occirred by the acquisition date.

Finally, ths amendments add an explicit statement that an scquircr does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on
or after I January 2022, Early application is permitted if an entity also applies al! other npdated references (published together with the updated Canceptual
Framewosk) at the sanse time or earlier.

Amendments to IAS 16— Property, Plant and Equi -—Proceeds hefore Jntended Use

The anmendinents prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds fram selling items produced before that asset is
available for use, i.e. procseds while bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary far it to be capable of operating in the manner intanded by
management, Consequently, an enlity recogniscs such sales proceeds and related cests in profit or loss. The entity measures the cost of thase ilems in
accordance with IAS 2 Inventories.
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Significant accounling pelicies (continued)
New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amiendmenis to IAS 16 — Property, Plaut und Equipment-—Proceeds before Intended Use (eontinnad)

The amendnients alse ¢lanify the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is functioning properdy”. |AS 16 naw specifies this as assessing whether the lechnical
and physical perfurmance af the assed is such that it is capable of being used in the praduction or supply of goads ar services, for renlal to athers, or for
adnsinisirative purposes.

Ifnot presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the financizl statements shall disclose the amounts of proceeds and cosl inciuded in
profit or loss that relate to items produced that are not an autput of the entity's ordinary activities, and which Ene item(s} in the statement of comprehensive
income include(s) such proceeds and cost.

The amendments are applied retrospectively, but enly to items of praperty, plant and equipment that are broughi to the location and condition necessavy for
thiem to be capable of apeiating in the manner intended by manegement an or after the beginning of the earliest period presented in Lhe financial statements
in which the entity first applies the amendments.

The entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of mitially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earmings (or other
component of equily, &5 appropriaie) at the beginning of thal earliest period presented.

The amendments are effective for annual periads beginning on or after 1 Janwary 2022, with eatly application permiitted.

Amendments te IAS 37 Provisions, Contingeut Liabdilities ard Contingent Asseis—Onerpns Contracts — Cost of Fulfilliug ¢ Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilting’ & contract comprises the *costs that relate directly to the contract’, Costs that relate directly fo a contract
congist of both the incremental costs of fulfilting that contract (examples wotld be direct labour or materials) and an allocalion of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the allocation: of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling
the contract),

The amendrents apply to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the
entity first applies the amendments. Comparatives are not restated. Instead, the entity shail recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the
4 as an adj t to the opening bzlance of retained eamings or other component of equity, as appropriate, at the date of initial application.

The amendments are effective for annual perinds beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early application permitted.

Annual Impreveients io IFRS Standards 2018-2020 — Amendwignts to I1FRS 1 First-time Adeption of International Finuucial Reporting Standards,
IFRS 9 Fiuancial Instrumients, IFRS 16 Leases, and I48 4F Agricultiure

The Annual Inprovenenss include amendments to two Standards thal could be applicable to the Group and the Company.

IFRS 9 Financlal lnstruments

The antendment clarifies that in applying i *10 per cent” test 1o assess whether to derecognisc a finacial Hability, an entity includes ouly fees paid ar
received berwaen the entity {the horrower) and the lender, including fees paid ar received by either the entity or the lender an the other’s behalf.

The amendment is applied prospectively to modifications and exchanges thal occur on or after the date the entity first appkes the amendment.

The amendment is effective for anuval periods beginning on ar after 1 Janunry 2022, with early applicstion permitted.

{FRS 16 Leuses
The dmeni the itl ton of the reimbursement of leasehald intprovements.

As the amendment to JTFRS 16 only regards an illusizative example, no effective dale is stated.

A d fo IAS 1 Py tation of Financial §t is and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Muterlality Judgemenis—Disclosure of
Accourting Policies
The amend change the requil in 1AS | with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendment repiaces all instances of the ienm

‘significant accounting policies” with ‘matenial acecunting policy information’. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with
ather information included in an emity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expecied to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial stacements make on the basis of those financizl statements.
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2. Significant accounting palicies {continued)

New and revised IFRS Siandards in |ssue but not yet effective (continwed)

A ) to 48 1 Pr ion af Fij it Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Aluking Materinlity Judgemenis—{Disclosure of
Aceaunting Polivles (continued}

The suppoiting paragraphs ir [A3 | are alse amended to clarifly thal accounting policy infermation that relates to inunaterial transactions, other events or
conditions is immaterial and nesd not be disclosed. Accounting pelicy inforation may be material because of the nature of lhe related transactions, other
events ar conditions, even if the anounts are inunaserial. However, net all zecounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itselfinaterial.

The Board has alse developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of the *four-step materiality process’ descnbed in IFRS
Practice Staternent 2.

The amendments to 1AS 1 are effective for annual pericds beginning an or after 1 January 2023, with earkicr application parmitied and are applied
prospectively. The amendments to [FRS Practice Slatement 2 do not cantain an effective date ot transition requirements.

Amendments to IAS 8 Aceonnting Policies Changes in Acconnting Estlimates and Errors—Definition of Accounting Estimales
The amendments replaces the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting estiemates, Under the new definition, accounting
estimates are “nonelary tx in financial stat ts that are subject 1o measurement uncertaingy™

‘The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted. However, the 1ASB retained the coucept of chanyes in accoumting estimates in the Standazd

with the following clarifications:

» a change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new developments is mot {he correction of an error; and

» the effects of'a change in an input or 2 measurement lechnique used fo develop an accounting eslimate are changes in accounting eslimates if they do nat
result fron the correction of privr period ervors.

The [ASB added swo expmples (Examples 4-3) 1o the Guidance on impl ng LAS 8§, which panies the Standard. The IASH has deleted one
example (Example 1) as it could cause confusion in light of the amendments.

T

The amendments are effective for anmual periods beginning on oc afier & Janvary 2023 to changes in accounting policics and changes in
that veeur on ar after the beginning of that period. with sartier application permitted.

Amendments lo LAS 12 Jucome Taxes—Deferred Tax reloted to Asseis and Linbilities ariving frant a Single Trausuction
The amendments introduce a fither exception from the initial recognition exemption. Under the amendments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition
exewiption for fransactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxabla and dedustible temparary differences may arise on injtial recognitien of an asset and lability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. For cxample, this may arise upon recognition of a lzase
liability and the corresponding right-of-use asset applying iIFRS 16 at the commencement date of a lease,

Following the amendments to LAS 12, an entity s required (o recognise the related deferred tax asset and liabiity, with the recopnition of any deferred 1ax
sset being suhject to the recoverability criteria in [AS 12,

The 1ASB also added an illustrative sxample 1o TAS 12 that explains how the amendments are applied.

The amendments apply to transactions that occur on or after the beginuing of the earliest comparative period presented. In additien, at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period an nlity recogises:
+ a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductibls temporary difference can be utilised) .
and a deferred tax Liability for all deductible and taxable temparary differences associated with:

o right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

o decomunissioning, restoation and similar liabilities aud the conesponding amounis recogniscd as part of the cost of the related asser;
+ the cumulative effeet of indtially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening Lalance of r<taingd earnings (or other component of equity, as
appropriale) at that date,

The asmendments ars ¢ffective for annual reporting periods beginning on or afier | January 2023, with earlier application permitted,

Going concern

Managemeut of the Group has prepared liquidity forecasts for the purpose of the going conceru revicw and liave also applied various sensitivitics. These
forecasls and sensitivitics have bezn reviewed by the directors of the Company together with the uederlying assumptions. The forecasts show that the Group
lhas sufficient cash and facilities to provide liquidity through the review periad.

The Group's new senor facilities (set out in note 19) are goaranteed by the Company’s ultimate parent company, Centene Corporation, and financial
covenants for the Facitities are measured at that level. Therefore, the directors of the Comipany have reviewed the covenant compliance reporting and the
forecast financial perfc cz. The covenant reporting shows that the covenants have been complied with tuoughout the period and the forecast fimancisl
performance indicates that they will e camplied with throughout the farecast period with appropriate headroom.
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3. Significant aceounting palicies (continued)

Going concern (continued)

After making enquinies, mcluding reviewing the ft ts and sensitivities, the directors have concluded that they have a reasonable expectation that the

Group and the Company have adequate resonrees available to them, to continue in operational existence for the foresceable future, and at least for 12
months from the date of these financial statements. Accordingly, ihey continue to adapi the poing concemn basis in preparing the financial statements.

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity controlled, directly or indirectly. Controt is reparded as the power to gover the financial and operating policics of the subsidiary se
as to benefit from its activities. The financial results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control is obtained untif the date that eontrol ceases. All
intea Growp transactions are eliminaled as part of the cansolidation process,

Business combinations
Under the requirements of IFRS 3 {revised), all business combinations aré ac d fov usiug the acquisition method. The consideration wansferred for the

acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred. the liabilities incurred to e former awners of the business and the equity interests
issued by the Group. 1dentifiable assets acqnired, liabilities and contingent Labilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incwrred. An intangible assel, such as a brand, is recopnised if it meets the definition of an
miangible assct under [AS 38 “Intargible assets'. The excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the Growp's share of the net assets acquired
is recorded a3 goodwill.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite vseful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulared amprtisation and accumulated impairment losses.
The estimated vseful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting pericd, with the effect of any changes in ¢stimate being
accounted for on & prospective basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite usefult lives that are scquired scparalely are camied at ¢ost less aceumulated impairment logses. Goadwill arisiag on
acquisitions is capitaliscd, held on the balance sheet indefinitely and snbject to an impairment review, bods annually and when there is an indication ikat the
carrying value may not be recoverable, At the date of acquisition, goodwill js allocaied at the lowest levels for which there are separate identifiable cash
flows for the purpose of impainnent testing, Assets, excluding goodwill, which have suffered an impairment are reviewed fer possible reversal of the
impairment at cach reporting date.

Acquired contracts are scparately identified from goodwill acquired as part of a business combination and are initially stated at fair value as at the
acquisition date. The fair value attributable is deternxined Ly discounting the expected future cash flows to be gencrated fron: that asset at the risk adjusted
weighted average cost of capital appropiate to that intangible asset. The assers are amortised on a straight line basis aver their estimated useful lives which
range from 9 10 15 years.

Acquired computer software (defined 48 software that is not considered an integral part of the hardware equipment) is capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific assel {estimated useful life not exceeding three years).

Brand is separately identified from goodwill acquired as pait of a business combination and are initially stated at fair value as at the acquisition dare. The fair
vatue atributable is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to be gencrated from that assct at the risk adjusied weighted average cost of
capital appropriate to that intangible asset. The asscts ar¢ amartised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives which range from 15 years.

Gaoodwill has ar indefinite life in botl the current year and prior period.

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from the pravision of medical services to privately insured, self-pay and NHES-funded paticnis at facilities located across the
UK. M; is sequired 10 wake all rel factors and circumstances inte accownt when determining the revenue recoguition methods that
appropriately depict the transfer of control of goods or services to the customer for each performance obligation. This requires P it 4 make cerlain
judgements, including: the determination of the perfarmance obligations in the cantract; the estimate of any variable consideration in determining the
contract price; the allocation of the price 10 the performance obligations inherent in the contract; and an appropriate method of recognising revenne.

In determining the approprinte method of r ising revenue, t are required to make jud; 3 a5 to whether performance obligations are
satisfied over a period of timc or at a point in time. For performance obligations tleat are savisfied over a period of time, judgements are made as to whether
the ontput method or the input method is more appropriate to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation, If perfonmance
obligations are not satisfied over time, the Group recognises revenuc at a point in time.

Revenue, which is measured as the fair value of consideration received for the activity performed, represents the total amounts derived primncily from the
provision of healtheare serviees In the UK, after deducting valus added $ax (where services provided are not exernpt).

Management has undertaken o detailed assessment of all revenue streams using the five-step approach specified by IFRS i5:
= [dentify the contract(s) with the customer

» [dentify the performance obligations in the contract

+ Datermine the transaction price

+ Aliocate the ransaction price ta the performance obligations in the contract

+ Recognise revenue when (or as} a performance obligation is satisfied
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Revenue can be broken down into the following main calegories:

NHS Haspital Provision (any gualified provider and diree! contvacting)
Any provider wha is able to provide a specific service that meets the required mininuwn standards can be listed as a possible provider to deliver bealtheare
on behalf of the NHS al national tariff. Patients choose their preferred provider under the national e-veferral system {formerly the Chioose and Baok system).

Following the puticnls” ireatment and subsequent discharge from hospital, the Group will invoice the relevant Clinical Commissioning Group {CCG) dirscily
at tariff for the medicat procedure performed and tecognise the applicable revenue. The performance of the treatment is the sofe performance obligation
(representing that liis is when the service is transferred), and so the wiole tariff price is allocated to that perfannance abligation. No provider is guaranieed
any volume ar exclusivily. In addition to any qualified provider revenue, sone revenue is earned from contracts with the NHS Trusts, with performance of
treatments being the sole performance obligation.

e

During the current peried, the Group alse ¢amed revenue from central NHS bodies and local health schemes in England, Scotland and Wales under contracts
pul in place v allow the independent sectar to suppont the NHS during the Covid-19 Pandemic.

NHS Contracts with guaranteed payments ]
Integrated Care contracts kave a term, usually, of five years, The contract invelves a *prime provider’ (Circle} who takes responsibility for coordinating and g
managing the defivery of services 2cross a local hieallh system. Cirele’s main cantracting parties are the focal commissioner (CCG) and local care providers.
The contragt Tevente is recognised to the extent that the Group obiains the right to consideration in exchange for its performance and is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received for activity performed {in accordance with IFRS £5).

The annual revenue reiates to the year beginning 1 Aprif and ends an 31 Marcl in the following year. The revenut is determined at the beginning of the year,
in respeet of the contract and any demographic growth in the local health systeny. The annual revenue is spread monthly across the year in a manner that

refiects the proportion of total annual cost anticipated to be bore in that menth. This s to reflect the contracts’ main performance obligation of coordinating
and managing the delivery of services to paticits, with the cost of these services incurred reflecting the complction of the peiformance obligation. E

Private and seif-pay

Revenue is recognised based on procedures performed gither at conwactually agreed insurance prices or self-pay rates. These are determined by the specific
procedure nudertaken. The completion of the medical procedure is the solc performance obligation, and sa the whole price is allocated to that performance
obligation, Tn tlie case of Private Medical Insurer revenug, the insurmnce companies pay the consultants directly and Circle 1ecopnises revenne for use of the
hospital, consumables and other clinical services which are recognised as provided.

For self-pay paticnis, Circle recognises revenue when the performance obligation has been salisfied.

In accordance with [FRS 15, the Campauy recognises revenue when perfonnance obligations have been satisfied and for the Company this is when the

services have been provided to the Group operating companies.
Revenuce is recognised 1o the exient that the Company obtains the right ta consideration in exchangs for is performance and is measured at the fair value of

the consideration received for activity performed.

Exceptional administrative expenses
The Group presents certain material exceplional items and fair value adjpstments separately in the income statement, if they are material because of their
size ar their nature (such as acquistion related costs). The Directors cousider that the separate reportulg provides a clearer understanding of the Group's i

underlying pecformance,

i
H
L
i

Finance tasts

Finance costs are recognissd on an effestive intercst rake basis in the period in which they are incurred, excep! where they are directly attributable 1o the
acquisition or prodectiou of a qualifying asset which takes a substantial period of time 20 get ready for intended use, such as the construction of a hospital. In
such ¢nses, borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of thal assel from the first date on which expenditure is incurred for the assel. provided the i
asset is determined to be economically viable. Capitalisation ceascs when all the activities that arc necessary to prepare the asset for use are complete. i

Investments
[nvestments in subsidiaries are volued at cost less provision for impsirment. The carrying value of fixed asset invesiments is reviewed for impainnent when

¢venls or changes in circumstances indicate the camying value may not be recoverable. ,
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Significant accaunting policles {contipued)

Property, plant and equipment
Praperty, plent and equipment are stated at historical cost less accuniulated depreciation and impairment losses, Historical cost compises all amaunts
directly attributable to makirg assets capable of aperating as intended, including development costs and borrowing costs where relsvant

Depreciatian is provided on all categories of property, plant and equipment with the exception of freehoid Jand and assets under canstruction. Depreciation
is based ou cost less eslimaled residual value and is povided on a steaight line basis nver the estimated useful life of the asset as follovws:

=1 easehold improvements  shotter of lease lifu wn expecied useful life (3-30 years)

« Clinigal equipment — 3 to 5 years

« Fumniture, fittings and office equipment, {including conunissioning costs) - 3 lo 10 years

Residual values and usefizl lives are reviewed at 1he end of eacls seporling periad. The expected useful lives of the assels to the business are reassessed
periodically in the light of experience. The carrying values of property, plant and equipn:ent are reviewed for impaimmient whien events or changes of
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposzl or whea no future
econounic benefils are expecied to arise from the continued nse of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset 15 determined as
the gifference between the sales praceeds and the cwrying amount of the asset and is secogised in profit or loss.

Impairment of tangilrle and Intangible assets

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying antounts of its tangible and intangible assels to determine whether there is any indication that

ihose assets have suffered an impaimeent loss. [f any sueh indication exists, the recoverable mmount of the assel is estimated in order to determine the extent

of the impairment lass (if asy). YWhere the asset de¢s not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the company estimates the recoverable

amount of the cash-gencraling unit to which the asset belongs. Aun intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment af Jeast awally and
vi v there is a0 indication that the asset may be impaited.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In asscssing value in use. the estimated future cash flows are discounted 1o
their present value using a prestax discount rate that reflects current market assessmnents of the time value of mongy and the risks specific to the assen for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted

If the recoverable amount of an asset {ar casl.gencrating unit) is cstimated ta be less than its carrying amoos, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An inpairmend loss is recogaised inunediately in the income statement.

Where an impainment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased lo the revised estimate of its
recoverabie amount, but so that the increased carrying amount daes nat exceed the canmying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset {or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is re¢opnised inunediately in prafit or loss.

Assels under construction

Development casts which are dircetly attributable to the development of property are capitalised as part of the cost of the propesty. The commencement of
capitalisation begins when developnient costs for the property are being ineurred and activitics that are necessary to prepare the asset ready for use are in
progress. Capitalisation ceases when ail the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for use are coniplete.

Commissioning costs comprise staff, praperty, consultancy and operational costs directly refated to the ¢ issioning of new build bospitals. Such costs are
capitalised, provided the asset is determined to be cconomically viable, up 10 the point that the commissioning is complete and the hospital is fully open for
business, subsequent to which furher such expenditure is charged to the income stat Once commissioned, the asset is reclassified fiom *Assers under

construction’ 10 the relevant praperty, plant and equipment category and depseciated on a straight line basis in accordance with the estimated useful lives as
outlined in the previous property, plani and equipment significant accounting policy.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the countract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
Tease lizbility wills respect ta all lease arrangements in whicls it is the lessee, excepl for short-term leascs {defined as leases with a Jease term of 12 months or
Iess) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furmiture and telephones). For Ihese leases, the Group
recognises the lease payments 5 an operafing expense on a shaight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the tme pattern m which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

‘I'he lease Bability is initially measured at the present value of 1he lease payments that are nat paid at the comm date, di d by using the rate
implicit in the lease. If 1his rate ¢annot he readily detesmined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

[ ease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

« Fixed lease payments {including in-substance fixed payments}, less any [ease incentives receivable;

« Variable lease payments that depand an an index or rate, initially weasured using the index or rate at the commencement dalc;
* The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value puarantees;

« The exercise price of purchase oplions, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the aptions; and

+ Payments of penaltiss for terminating the lease, if the Iease term reflects the exercise of an option fo teminate the fease.
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Leases
The lease liability is presented as a separate linc iy the consolidated stat 1 of financial position.
The lease liability is subsequently d by i ing the carrying amount to reflect intcrest on the lease liability {using the effective inlerest me thod)

and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made,

The right-at-use assets compnsc the initial measurement of the corresponding lease linbility, lcase paynsents made at or before the commencement day, bess
any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an ohligation for costs to di lle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying
asset to the condition tequired by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recoguised and nieaswred under TAS 37. To the extent that the costs
retate to aright-of-use asset, (he costs are included in the related right-of-usc asset, unless those costs are incursed to produce inveatories.

Righl-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-usc asset. If' a lcase transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase optiow, the related right-of-use assct ks depreciated
over the useful Life of ibe underiying asset. The depreciation starts at the cc t date of the lease,

The Group applies IAS 34 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impainnent loss as described in the
‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.

Inventorles

inventories, primarily medical consumables, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises purchase price less trade discounts, and
is detervined on a first-in, first-out bagis, Net realisable valuc means estimaicd sclling price, Jess all costs incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.
Obsolete and slow moving stock is provided for in the income statement,

Where title never transfers to the Group, censignment stack is held off balance sheet.

Cash and cash cquivalents
Cash and ¢ash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, overight deposits cther short-erm highty liquid investments with original

naturities of three months or lass.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligatious to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in e ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are
itially recognised at fair value and subsequently measurcd at amartised cost. If payment js contractually not due for more than sue year, they are classificd
s non-current Habilitdes. The derccognition of trade payables when the obligation is discharged, or cuncelled.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables represent amonnts due from customsers arising from the perfonnance af services ar sale of goods in the ordinary course of business. If
collection is expected in one year or less they are classified as current assets. Likewise, if collection is expected in over one year then they arc classified as
non wurrent assets. Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently exeasored at amortised cost, less provision for inxpaiment. The
mavenient in the allowance for impairment is taken to administrative expenses.

The Group and Company applies e TFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables and contract assets. Each entity uses a formula to caleulate the expected credit Joss. Trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
characteristics {e.g. payer type). Different credit rigk ratings have been applied to each grouping, including to reflect that credit risk increases as ihe aging of
debt increases.

A different percentage allowance is used for zach purchaser type to reflect the varying credit risk. This percentage allowance reflects the likelihood of
default, and the anticipated shortfall of cash if default occurs.

Derecognition of trade receivables only oceurs When the contractual rights to the cashiflows from the asset expires, or when the asset and substantially all the
risks and rawards of the ownership of tie asset is transferred to anather entity.
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Nodes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Significan t accounting policies {continued)

Pensiam costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expensc as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed refirement benefit

schemes are deak with as payments to defined contribution schemes where the Company’s obligations wider the schemes are equivalent 1o those arising in &
defined contributicn retizement benefit scheme.

The Group sponsors a funded defined benefit pension plan for qualifying UK employees, General Healtheare Gioup Limited Pension and Life Assurance
Plan. The Plan is administered by GHG (DH) Pension Trustees Limited, an independent trustee. The Trustes is required by law 1o act in the interest of !l
relevant beneficiaries and s responsivle for Ut ivvestment policy for the assets and the day-to-day administration of the bevefits.

The Group's defined beaefit plan closed to future accruals and members with effect from 31 August 2008, Under the Plan, employees are entitied to annual
peisions on zetirement at age 65 for each year of service. The level of benefits acented by mentbers is based o the length of their Pensionable Service and
their Pensienable Salaries ar the earlier of the date on whicl they left the Plan or the date at which the Plan elosed o the future scerual of benefits,

A full actuarial vatuation was carried ont as at 30 September 2018, The present value of the defined benefit obligation and the related cuvent secvice ¢ost
were mieasured using the projected unit credis method. The projected mit ¢redit method is an acerued bensfits valuation method in which the scheate
iiabilities make allowance for projected eamings.

During 2019 the Trustees used the scheme assets to procure a bulk annuity to cover the current and future pension liabilitics buy in.

Taxation
‘1 ax expense comprises current and defecred tax. The charge for current incame tax is based on the results for e year, as adjusted for items which ase
taxable ar deduciilile in olher accounting periods and items ot taxed or disallowed. The charge is calculated using tax rates that have been ¢nacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Dieferred ncome tax is accouated for using the Eability method in respect of tempotary differences auising from differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities, and their carrying antounts in the consolidated financial [n principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differances and deferred lax assets are recognised to the extent that it is prebable that taxable profits will be available agaivst which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised, Such assels gand bakilities are not recognised if the temporary difference s due Jo the initial secognition of goochyill or
fiom the initial recopnition of an asset or liability in a ansaction (other than a business combinatien) which at the time of the wansaction does not affect
either taxable or accounting profit,

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable iemporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able 1o control the reversal of the tempovary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not revesse in the foreseeable future.

Deferved income tax assets and ligbilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable sight to offset cunent tax assets against current tax liabilitizs and
when the deferred income tax asscts and Liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention te setile the balances on a net basis.

Deferred tax is caloulated 21 the tax tates Mat are expected to apply ta the period wheu the asset {s realised or tle liability is seitled using rates enagied, or
substantively enacted, at the end of the reporing period. Deferred tax is chacged or credited in the lidated income t, excepe ta the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive incore or directly in equity. [n this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity, respectively.

Deferred tax assets are recagnised onlly to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised. The ¢amrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at cach balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no Jonger probable that
sufficient taxable profits will bt available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assetto be recovered.

Pravislans for ather Habllities and charges

Provisions arc recognised when the Greup or Company has a present obligation in respect of a past event, when il is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required 1o settle the obligation and it can be reliably estimated, Provisions are discounted where the time vatue of money is considered to be
msterial, using an appropriate rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The unwinding
of the discount is recoguised as a finance cost.

Dividends
Dividend disuibution to the Company's shareliolders is recogmised as a lability i the Group’s and the Conipany's financial statements in the period in which

thie dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders.

Share capital
Ordinary shares arc classificd as cquity. Proce¢ds received, uct of avy directly atributable transastion costs, are credited to share capital (nominal value) and

share premium (for any proceeds in excess of nominal value).
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 {continued)

2. Sigmificane accounting policles (centinued)

Loans and other borrawinga

Bomowings are initially recegnised at fi1 value, net of transaction <osts incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured ot amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of Iransaction costs) and e redemption ameunt i recognised in profit or loss aver the period of the borrowings using the
effeclive interest method

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The diffeience between the
carrying amount of a financial liabitity that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, incleding any nan-cash assets
transferred or Liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss 15 other income or finance costs.

Bauowings are classified as cunent liabilities uniess the Group has an unconditionat right ta defer settlement of the Liabilicy for a¢ leasst 12 months after the
reportiog period.

Asscis held for sale

Nan-curient assels and disposal groups are classified 2s beld for sale anly if available for immcdiate sabe in their present condition and a sale is highly
probable and expected to be completed within one year from the date of classification. Such assets are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair
valug, kss the cost of disposal, and are not depreciated or amortised.

In accordance with IFRS 5 Non-currest Assels Held for Sale and Discontinued Opcrations, the net results of discontinued operations are presented
separately in the consolidated income statement,

3. Critical fjudgemenis and accounting estimates

In the process of applying the Group’s accountiog policics, the Directors niake judgements and stimates conceming the future, The resulting sccounting
estimates will, by definition, scldom equal the related actual results. The judgements and estimates that have the most significant effect on the amounts
d in the consalidated financial ts, and could have a material impact on the financial statements in the following year, include:

Critical judgenents in applying the Group’s accaunting policles

L Tax

The recognition of deferred tox assets is dependent upon management judgement of the level of future taxable profits that will be available agaiust which
deduclible temporary diffesences can be ulilised. Such a judpement is based on cash flow forecasts It have been generated, afong with their expeclations of
futare market performance. [o the svent that actual taxable profits are different, such differences may impact the carying value of such defened tax assets in
future years. Based on the estimates used in determining the deferred tax asset position fivere remains £100.9 million unrecopnised.

e = mrer
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

3.

Critical judgements and accounting estimates (continued)
Critical accounting estimates and assumiptions

Tlie koy assuniptions and estimates at the end of the 1eporting period, thai have a significant fvk of causing a material adjnstment 10 the canying amonnts of
assets and liabilities within the next fuiancial year are discussed below:

I Impairment of assets

Propercy, plant and equipment, Right of Use assets, and other intangibic assets are tdercd for impairment if there is any reason to believe that
inpairment may be necessary, based on the judgement of manzgement. All haspital fised assets arc allocated inta cash-generating units (CGUs), being each
individual hospital opesation, and tested for impairment, if any indicators of impaitment exist.

At 31 December 2021, Properdy, plant and equipment, Right of Use, and other intangible assets were considered for impairment, The Group assessed the
receverable values of each CGU usiug forecasls of the profilability and the anticipated mai capital expenditure for each ospital. Refer 10 note 12
for seusitivities performed
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4.  Revenue
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as fallows: 2011 2020
£000 £000
Continuing aperations
Provision of healthcare services by custonier
Private medical insurers 415,483 403,852
NHS 164,625 428,178
Self-pay 214,740 129,754
Contract revenue and other 42,594 23,052
1,851,642 984 876

All revenue anises from the sanie principal activity in the United Kingdom.

3. Exceptional administrative expenses

Income statement Tax impact Income statement Tax impact

2021 1021 2010 2020

£1000 £4900 £100 £'000

[mpaiment losses 7,391 - 36,626 -

Agqmisition costs 4,161 - 1,383 -

Other exceptional items 117 (12) 3,115 {592)
11,609 (22) 41,124 592

In both tle current and prior year, the exceptional costs recognised were in relation to impairment charges following the annual impatmient review of the assets
carried cut at the year end, Sce note 13. Acqusition and other sxceptional items recognised relate to legal and profésssional fess associated with the acquisition

of BMI Heelthcare and the integration of the acquisition, and site closuze costs.

Cash flow impact af exceptionaly

The cash flaw impact for nen-recurring acquisition costs was an autflow of £2,R83,000 (2020: £1,383,000). The cash flow impact of other exceptional items

was an outflow of £117,000 {2020: £3,115,000).
6. Operating profit for the year

Operating profit is stated afier charging/{creditng):

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 11}
Depreciation of praperty, plant and equipment {pote 13)
Cost of stock recognised as expense

Auditor's Rmuneration (see balow)

Movement in provision for bad debis {nots 18}
Operatig lease charges

Exceptional aperating itens (note 5)

Renuneration payable to the company's auditor :

Fees payable lo Company's auditor for the parent Campany and
consolidated financiat statements

Fees payable (o the Company’s auditor for other services
- The sudit of Company's subsidiaries
— Advisory services

2021 2020
£'000 £000
11,805 9,888
93,651 92,438
191,976 148,132
733 626
(633) 3,884
4 1,551
11,508 41,124
2021 2020
£1000 £000
198 119
535 504

3 3

733 626

P
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Staff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including exccutive directors) was:
2021 2020
Number Number
Management and administrative 599 397
Clinical and hospital support 7,875 TA36
8,474 7.833
Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
2021 2020
£'000 £000
Wages and salares 327,655 277,529
Social securily costs 26,179 22,343
Otlier pension costs (see nole 30) 10,037 9214
363,871 309,086
Agpregate directars’ remuneration
The directors of the Company aze deemed to be key management personnel to the Conpany
‘Fhe total amounts for directors” remuneration in accordance with Schedule 5 1o the Accounting Regulations were as follows:
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Salaries, faes, bonuses and benafits in kind 2,671 2098
Company pension contributions to defined contribution scheme 6 27
2,677 2,125

Directors' emoluments relate to the Non-Executive and Executive Directors, who are renunerated by Cacle Health Holdings Lintited and Circle Health
Lintited.

Post-employment benefits are accruing for one direclor (2020: two directors) under a defined contribution scheme.

Emoluments disclosed include the foflowing smounts paid to the highest paid director:

2021 1020

£4000 £000

Total selary and other benefits 1,114 990
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes 6 10
1,120 1,000

Highest directar aggregate enolumenrs

The Directors of the company are alsa directors er officers of a number of other companies within the uitimate parent group (the Group), and are remunerated
i vespect of services provided to the Cirele Health Holdings Group. The Directors do nat censider the tirie spent on dealing with individual comypany™s matters
10 be material and therefare have not souglit 1o separatc out their costs in respect of services to each individual company in the Circle Health Holdings Group,
The amounts disclosed above are the Directors' total emoluments as per their employinent contracts,

Finanee income

2021 2020
£2000 £'000
Sd 481

Imerest inceme

54 481
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9. Fiuance costs

Interest expense wder IFRS 16 on lease liahilities {note 17)
Interest on bank averdrafis and [oang
Interest on convertible loan notes

10.  Tax on loss on ordinary activities:

The tax charge/(credit) is based on the loss for the year and comprises:

Corporation incote tax:
Cuwrrent tax at 19%
Adjustment in respect of prior years

Deferred tax:
Current year charge/(credit)
Adjustment in reapect of prior years

Total tax on loss on ordinary activilies
The charge/(credit) for the year cun be reconciled 10 the loss per the income statement as follows:
Loss before tax:

Total operations

Less: associate companies’ profit

Greup loss on ordinary activitics on coutinuing operations before tax

Tax at the UK corporation lax rate of 19%
Effects of

Expenses that are pot deductible in detenmining 1axable profil
Incoms that is not taxable

Disposal of subsidiary

{Recogution Yderecogition of brought forward tax attritutes
Deferred tax not recognised

Losses caried forward

Other reliefs

Effects of change in rate of tax

Adjustment to tax charge/(credit) in respect of previous periods

Tax charge/(eredit) and effective tax rate for the year on continuing operations

2021 020
£000 £'009
119,366 115,504
18,010 21,009
- p
137,376 136,515
2011 2020
£000 £000
(821) 3,889
202 {69)
1,19 (6,318)
174 (370)
1,274 {2.868)
(51,402) {61,748)
{4,105 (1,496)
{55,507} 63,244
(10,546) (12,016)
1,869 383
1,827 g
(618) -
7,929 (165}
(410 (909
3,085 9,387
- (310)
2,216 1,801
376 (439
1,274 (2,868)

The tax rate for the curent year and prior year is 19.0%. The Finance Aet 202 has increased the rate of corporation tax to 25.0% from 1 Aprit 2023. As this

change was substaatively enacted at the balance sheet date its effect has been included in these financial statements,

However, its the Chanceflor's budgst of 23 September 2022 the abave rate increase was cancelled. Whilst this change is not reflected in the lax charge above,

its effect would be to reduce the tax charge by £2,216 000, to 8 credit of £543,000,

L
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 {continued)

11. Intangible asseis

The amortisation charge for the year is included within the Consolidated S nt of Comprehensive Income within administrative expenses Lefore
exceptional ilems.

Contracts and

Stakeholder Computer

Cost Brand vefationslips software Tatal

£'000 £4000 £000 £000
As at 3f December 2019 15,608 3,600 1,445 20,645
Acquisitions (Note 27) 5,000 37.000 2,700 44,700
Additions - - 6,224 6,224
As at 31 Becember 2020 20,600 40,600 10,359 71,569
Additions - - 1,022 1,022
Transfers from tangible fixed assets - - 544 544
As at 31 December 202} 20,600 40,600 11,935 73,135
Accursulated amortisation and impaivment
As at 31 December 2019 2,946 1,067 1,016 5,029
Amortisation charge for the period 2,019 4,425 3444 9,888
As at 31 December 2020 4,965 5492 4,460 14,217
Amartisation charge for the period 2,040 4511 5,254 11,8035
As at 31 December 2021 7,005 10,003 3,714 26,7112
Net book antonnt
At 31 December 2020 15,635 35,108 5,909 56,652
At 31 December 2021 13,595 30,597 2221 46,413

Intangible assets that are subject to amortisation are considered for impaiment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may

not be recoverable.

Coniracts and Stakeholder relationships
Circle holds several contracts with a momber of CCGs which allow the Company te pravids specific clinical services. The conracts attract value given the

exclusivity they provide Circle with regard to service proyision.

The value of these contracts are amortised over nine years from April 2017, the date that they were acquired, which represents the stimated remaming
economic useful life of the contracts.

On the acquisition of BMI a further £37 million was recognised under this category, which represents relationships with practising medical p ionals held
by Bb1 as at the 8 Jamsary 2029, This asset (s being amontised over nine years.

Bramd

Circle hhas a well-known and raspected brand in the arsas where it operates hospitals. It is also known across the UK in the healiheare industry among
cansultants and suppliers.

The value of the brand is amortised over 15 years from April 2017, which represents the esti d remaining ic useful lifo of the brand. The value of
the Circle brand is appertioned across the different cash generating units (CGUs) of the Group.

On the acquisition of BMI a further £5 million wes recognised under this category, whicls represents accounting value atiributed to the BMI Healthcar ¢ brand.
This is being amartised over five years.

Computer software
Computer seftware represents costs inclured in relation to the Group's information technelogy sysienss and is heing amoitised over bvo years.

AN I TR A X AT SR e 7 e
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

12, Gaodwill
£'000

Net Book Amount as at 31 Decerber 2019 30,013

Recognised on acquisition of 1 subsidiary (note 27) 117,465

Net Book Amount as as 31 December 2020 147,478

Net Book Amount as at 31 December 2021 147,478

Goodwill is subject to impaimment testing annually, or more frequently where there are indications that the goodwill may be impaired. The recovesable amounts
of'all cash generating units {CGUs) are determined based on value in use calcufatons, using discownted pre-tax cash llow projections based on nianagement
appraved financial forecasts for the period of the contract. The key assumptions for these forecasts are those relating to revenue growth and decline, based on
past experience and expectations of future clanges in relevant CGUs. The Group prepares cash fow forecasts derived fiom the most recent fnancial plans
approved by managensent for the period of the coniract.

The tinw period over which nignagement bas projecied caslt flows varies based on each CGU, based on the financial plans approved by management. This
takes into consideiation cantract lengths. Any projections for future years beyond ihe period in financial plans approved by wanagenent are extrapolated at a
growth rate 01 2% based on past experience and finue expectations. The discount rate used is 8.38% (2020; 8,64%4), which is tre estimated weighted avetage
cost of capital for the Group. The financial plans reflect past experience and incorporate asswmptions in tenms of volumes, the mix of patient treatments and
tanff changes.

The Group has conducted o sensitivity analysis on the cairying value of each of the CGUs. There are no reasonably possitie changes in the key assumptions
that eould cause the canying value of the CGU to exeeed its recaverable amounts.

Based on the resylt of the value in use caiculations undertaken, the Directors conclude that the recoverable amount in the integrated care and private hospitals
CGUs exceed their carying value,

Allacation of Gaadwill to each CGU

2021 2020

£000 £000

Private hospitals (inclueding BMI Healthcare business acquisition) 146,688 146,688
Integrated care 790 790
147,478 147,478

Goodwill has been atlocated to each CGU based on an implied purchase price for cach CGU during the acquisition by Cirele Health Holdings Limited, and the
uet assets held by eacts CGU at that time. A discounted cash flow approach was used 1o assist in allocaling the purchase price to those CGUs.
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Notes to the financial statainents
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13, Peoperly, plast and equipmieny
o ) Righl-ofose assels

Furiiture, Furaiture,
Buillings and Nttings and itings and
Asseis under leaschald Clinical office Clinieal affice
Casi construction Improvements i L i Building; J i Tolal
£000 1900 £000 £'000 £'000 1040 £'008 £7000
A1 January 2020 3,811 2,087 EXET 3,577 102,21 725 1,752 117,369
Additions 20,821 13,406 13,903 1429 57,664 3,730 7l 116,024
Acquisilion of subsidiary (Nots 27) 10,465 93,73 35,514 5,277 1,528,203 7988 - 1,701,831
Dispasals - e {430 - [{2X)) {1,051 - (3,396)
Reclassilied 25 held for sake (Mote 32) - - ([2,657) (L2} (24.985) - - (38,784)
AL31 December 2020 and 1 Jancary 2021 35,100 108,867 43,590 9,044 1,663,132 16312 1,823 1,893,043
Additions 25,833 19,430 15,632 5384 45128 19,782 - 131,169
Dispasals (E55) 29 {22) 2] (64,036 - {2,285) 166,422}
Transfers (2,370) 5338 1,673) (2,668) - 1,272) 7,728 -
Transfers (e intangible assels {5H) - - - - - - (344)
AL3I Deceniber 2011 57,981 133,623 71527 LS55 1,644,224 34,782 1,266 1.957,258
Furniture, Furzliuie,
Ruildingy am Fdlings and fiLtings and
Assets under Jeschold Clinical office Clinical office
Arrurmulated depreciatian ang impaimient canseruction Emprovements ip il q i Total
£000 £'000 £'060 £'000 £000 £ £1900 £2000
AU Junuary 2010 - (2,007} {2,979} (2472) (8373) (30%) 229 (16,171)
Depreciation charge for tix year - (5,126 (14,491} 6.913) {62,313) (3.3710) (263) (92,488)
Trisposals - - - - 200 212 . 412
lmpairment - {435) (654) (R3] Qxnlm (3.131) - {36,627)
On assels reclassified as keld for sale (Note 32) - - 11an L0956 4,784 - - 17,711
At 3 December 2020 and 1 Jyouary 2021 - (7,568) (6,237 8,382) (97,886} {6,698) {492) {127,363}
Depreciatiou charge for the year - (10,703) (146,508) [{R2)33 {60,559} @an 23} (93,651}
Disposals - - 14 L 4776 . L0238 5321
Translers - - (263) 61 - 163 {619} -
Tmpaiment (chargeVreversal (2,612) 415 677 91 (27,2500 1,289 - {7,390
AL31 December 2011 (2,632) {17,336) {31.415) (9,11 [160,919) 19,063) {506} (122,587)
Net book gnwount
At 3L December 2020 35,100 101,299 52,253 159 1,565,246 9604 1,331 1,765,682
4138 December 2021 55349 145,787 50,042 2643 143,305 25109 1,760 1,731,676

The Group has conducted g sensitivity analysis on the tangible and intangible assels impairnent test of the CGUs and the group of unils carrying value, as follows:

+ If the pre-tax WACC tate was increased/decreased by 0.3 percentage point, the overall impairment would increase/decrease by £0.0/ £0.0 millien
« If the long term growth rale was increased/decreased by 0.5 percentage poict, the overall impairment would decrease/increase by £0.0/ £0.0 million

The cashfiow forecasts used in the prior year impairment reviews were reviewed against actual performance. Impairment tests were perfornied uséng the recoverable
amounts of the assels' casl-generating unils, Each haspital is deemed 1o be its own CGU. The discount rate used in measuzing value in use was 8.38% per aanum (pre-
tax) (2020; 8.54%). The Company also cstimated the fair value less costs of disposal of these assels, which is based on the recent market prices of assets with similar age
and obsolescence. The Fair value kess costs of disposal is less than the value in use and hence the recoverable amount of the relevant assels has been determined on the

Dasis of their value in use,

The review led to a number of reversals of impairment due to improvements in Jocal markel conditions/factars of renegotiated lease agreements, CGUs that recorded an
inpainuent charge was as a resuit of specific Jocal market conditions impacting volume of future trading. The impairment charge for the year was £11.3 million (2020:
£36.6 million) and the inpairment reversal was £3.9m (2020: £il), with the net impairment charge of £7.4 million (2020: £36.6 million) recognised in profit or loss.
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14, Subsidiaries

Detaifs of the invesiments in which the parent Liglds 20.00% or more of the nominal valuc of any class of share capital and quasi subsidiaties are as follows:

Proportion af

Company name voting vights  Sharve Registered office Naturs of business
held class

Circle Intemational ple 100% Holding

CHG Management Services Limited 100% Holding and management

Nations Healtheare Limited 100% Holding

Circle Nottingharm Linvted 100% Provision of healthcare services
Circle Haspital {Reading) Limited 100% Provision of healtheare services
Circle Birmingharu Limited 100% Provision of bealllicare services
Circte Relwhilitation Services Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Circle Health 1 Limited 100% Holding
Cirele Healtl 2 Limited 100% Bolding

Circle Health 3 Limited 100% Halding

Circle Health 4 Limited 100% Holding

GHG Healtheare Holdings Limited 100% Holding

Bishopswaod §PV Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Cirole Health Group Limited 100% Provision of heatthcare services
Circle Decontamination Limited 100% Proviston of decontmmnination services
BMI Syen Clinic Limited 50% Ordinary Ist Floor 30 Cannon Street, Pravision of healthcare services

BMI fmaging Clinic Limited 50% chares | London, England, Provision of healthcare services

BMI Southend Private Hosphal Limited 50% ECAM 6XH Provision of iealthcare services
Mferiden Hospital Advanced [maging Centre Limited 50% Provisicn of healthcare services
Three Shires Haspital {.L.P 50% Provision of healthcare services
General Heakheare Holdings (2) Limited 100% Invesument holding '
General Heatthcare Holdings {3) Limited 100% Invesiment holding |
$HG (DB) Pension Trustees Limited 106% Pension Trustee F
GHG Intermediate Holdings Limited 100% Investment hotding i
GHG Leasing Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Nortl: West Cancer Clinic Limited 90% Provision of healthcare services
Runnymede SPV Limited 100% Provisian of healthcare services
South Cheshire SPV Limited 100% Pravision af kealthcare services

GHG Mount Alvermia Hospital Limited 100% Investiment holding

G le de Sanle Intgrnational Limited 100% Investment holding

Circle Clinical Services Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services

TKH Halding Ltd 100% Holding

Circle Health MyWay Limited 100% Health plan subscription services
Circte Harmany Health Limited 50% 3}:‘:‘:’}’ ;‘:;;ﬁc&uﬁ gg“"ad’ Londen, Management services

Circle Holdings Limited 100% :)hf:_:‘:“' ;f fl:’:;ls;::;L Holding

Circle Harmony Health Limited 50% 3:;"::'3' i;gi.uéf:dﬁ‘*?g'}{}?r}::{i; fong Management services

. . i 5, L1/F, Carlion Bldg, No.21

b].lazjghai Cirele Harmony Hospital Management 0% Ordinary I]:i"aln;ae R;,::I, Hua:gpu D?strict, Management services

Limited shares

Shanghai, Chira
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14, Subsidiaries (continued)

Subsidisvy audit exemption

The following UK subsidiary underiakings are exempt from the requivemsnts of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act) relating to the audit of individual accounts by vistue

of scction 479A afthe Act

Company name

CHG Management Services Limited
Nations Healthcare Limited

Circle Naninglary Eimiled

Cirele Hospita! (Reading) Linzited

Cizcle Rebabilitation Services Limited

Circle Health ) Limited
Circle Health 2 Limited
Circle Health 3 Limited
Circle Health 4 Limited

General Heatthcare Holdings Group Limited

GHG Healthcare Holdings Limited
Bishopswood SPY Limsited

BMI Hospital Decantamination Limited
General Healthcare Holdings {2) Limited
General Healthcare Holdings (3) Limited

GHG Intermediate Holdings Limited
GHG Leasing Limited

North West Cancer Clinic Linvited
Rumnymede SPV Limited

Circle Herlth Holdiongs Limited will guarantee al! outstanding liabilities that these subsidiaries are subject to as at the financial year ead 31 December 2021 in

Company number

05042771
04523677
05153608
06995585
10527747
£2908495
£2508525
12108431
12258549
04026079
05740193
04252401
06093075
026992
040562897
04210385
01551992
05706220
04252392

accordance with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006 as amended by the Companies and Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts and Audit Exemptions and

Changes of Accounting Framework) Regulations 2012,

:
'
:
i
?
i
!
;
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15, Investments
Shares in associates Totat

£000

Cost
At | January 2021 3,407
Share of profits during the year 4,185
Dividends received _ (2450)

The Group leases several assets including buildings, plant and elinical equipment. The average lease tenn is 26 years (2020; 27 years).

At 3] December 2021

Provision lor impairment
At | Janvary 2021
Impaimient

At 31 Decenaber 2021

Net book value
At | January 2021
At3] December 2021

. Inventories

Consumalles

5,041

3,407

5142

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
17,276 16,884

There is no significant difference between the replacement cost of consumables and their carrying amount. At 31 December 2021, an amount of £3.2 million (2020

£3.5 million) has been provided against the gross cost of inventories.

Leases (Group as a lessee)

The Graup has lease contracis for hospétals, furniture, fittings and office equipment, and clinical equipment. The amounts recognised in the financial statenients in

relation 1o these are as follows:
Amounts recognised it the statement of financial position

Right-of-tse assets

Buildings

Furmiture, fittings and effice equipment
Clinical equipnient

Lease liabilities
Curent
Nen-current

See note 33 for the future cashfiows of leases liabilities over the remaining term of the leases.

Amaunis vecognlsed in the statement of comprehensive income

Depreciation of vight-of-use assets
Buildings

Funiture, fittings and ofce quipment
Clinical equipment

Amagunis recogaised in profit and loss

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assels
Interest expense on lease Ligbifities

Expense relating to shott-lerm deases
Expense relating te leases of low vatue assets

The total cash outflow for leases during the period amount to £126 miilion {2020: £1 20 niillien).

2071 2026
£'000 £2000
1,483,305 1,565,246
1,760 1,331
25,719 9,694
1,510,785 1,576,271
(8,065) (n
(1,666,021) (1,665,687}
(1.674085) (1.672,804)
2021 2020
21040 £'000
60,559 62,323
423 263
3917 3,370
64,859 63.956
2021 2020
£'000 £000
64,899 63,956
119,368 115,504
- 1,123
4 429

The Group has options to extend lease term, as well as purchase certzin equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the lease term. The Group's obligations are secured
by the lessors™ title 10 the leased assets for such leases.

P © T
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

18. Trade and other receivables

Cusrrent Current
2021 3020
£000 £1000
Trade receivables 67219 56,521
Less: provision for impaimment (3,751) (4,584}
Met trade receivables 63,468 52,137
Prepayments and accrued income 2,181 2,750
Other receivables 9,510 21,618
Tax receivable 553 -
75,712 76,515
The movement in the allewance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
2021 2020
£2000 £'000
Al 1 January 4,384 500
{Decrease) / increase in the year (633) 3,884
At 31 December 3,751 4,384

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year is reflected wilhin administralive expenses in the income
statement.

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of wade receivables was as follows:

1021 2010

000 £'000
Not past due 44,171 31,673
Past due 0-30 days 6,762 7,706
Past due 31-60 days 2,817 2,768
Past due by more than 6¢ dﬁys 9,718 9,990
43,468 52,137

Trade receivables, fron contracts vith customers, are noneinterest bearing and credit terms are generally 30 days. The above receivables are not impaired
beeause management believe they are fully recoverable.

As per [FRS 9, the Group follews the simplified approach to caleulating a loss atlowance for (rade and other receivables.

Each sile uses a formula to calculate the expected cradit loss ("ECL"), The expected credit losses an trade receivables are: estimated using a provision matrix by
reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the deblor's current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debiors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the foreeast direction of conditions at
the reporting date. Trade receivables have been grouped based on shared charaoteristics (e.g. payer type). This weighting is used as it reflects the dsk of credit
risk, as this risk increases when the age increases.

A different percentage allowance s used for each purchaser type to reflect the varying eredit risk. This percentage allowance reflects the likelihoed of default,
an4 the anticipated shonfall of cash if default occurs.

The Group has not significantly changed the expected loss rates for trade receivables from the prior year based on its judgement of the impact of ecoznonic
conditions and the forecast direction of rave) at the reporting date. There has been no change in the estimation techniques during the current reporting period.

The Group wriles off a trade recejvable when there is information indicating that the debror is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recevery, €.g. when the debtor has Leen placed under liguidation or has entered into bankruptey proceedings, or when the trade receivables are aver two years

past due, whichever acours eatlier. None of the trade receivablcs that have been vwritten off (s subject to enforcement aclivibies,

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different custamer segmeats, the provision for loss
allowance based on past due statys js nat further distinguished between the Group’s different customer segments.

The Directors cansider the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximate to their fair value,
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 {continued)

19. Borrowings

Non-current Non-cwrrent
2021 2020
£°000 £'000
Loans 219,843 219,348
Prepaid finance costs {3.810) {1,963)
114,038 211,885

deoured bomowngs are measured at amorlised cost.

Maturity profile
Grealer than 4

2021 years Total
£2000 £'000

Leans 219,843 219,848

219,848 219,848

Greater than 4

2020 years Tatal
£900 £'000

Loans 219,848 219,848

219,348 213,348

During the year the benchmark rate for the loans transitioned from LIBOR to SONTA. There was no material impact as a regult of this change. The
debd was refinanced as deseribed in nate 34,

{1) The Group had three prineipal bank loans at the halance sheet dale:
(3) a loan of £178m (2020: £178m). The loan is repayable in full on 7 January 2027, The loan camies interest rate at 6.5 per cent above SONIA
ag at 3§ December 202t (2020: 7 per cent above LIBOR),
(b) a loan of £20m (2020: £20Gm), The loan is repayable in full on 7 July 2026. The loan carries intecest rate al 3.25 per cent 2bove SONIA as at 3!
December 2021 (2020: 7 per cent above LIBOR}
(¢) a Joan of £20m (2020: £20n1) The lann is repayable in fisll on 7 January 2027, The loan carries interest rate at 6.5 per cent above SONIA asal
31 December 2021 (2020: 7 per cent above LIBOR).

See note 34 for detail of changes to the Group's financing arangements after the balance sheet date.
20. Deferred tax

The followiny are the major deferred Lax liabiSities and assels recognised by the group and movements thereon during the current and prios reporting

period.
Charge  Effects of change
Atl Adjusiments 1 (credit) to in tax rate Atal
January to income for incomg 10 income December
202} prior periods slaternen! statement 2021
£000 £000 £000 1000 £000
Accelerated tax deprecation (12,216) 2,602 6,595 {985) {4,104)
Other tinung differences (3,793) - (621) {1,394) (5,808)
Leases 19,671 408 {14,520) 1,756 7315
Land and buildings 8,696 - {397) 2,620 10,919
Intangible assets 9,642 - (1,501) 2,570 10,711
Derivatives 21435 - (4,936) 3894 21393
Tax losses (36,095) (2,836) 14,883 6,245) (30,263)
Net deferred tax liability 9,240 174 (497} 2216 11,133

Deferred tax balances have been remeasured at the rates they are expected to reverse, which is mainly at 25%. However, in the Chancellor's Budger of
23 September 2022 the cnacied rate increase was cancelled. Whilst this ¢hange is not reflected in the deferred tax movement abave, its etfect would
be to reduce the deferred tax liability by £2,216,000, ta £8,217,000.

Certrin deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the defecred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reparting purposes:

2021 2020

£0400 £000

Deferred tax liabilities 51,337 61,443
DNelerred tax nssets (40,204} (52,203)
11,133 9,240

A deferred 1ax liabiliry of £10,91%,000 (2020: £8,696,000) has been recognised in respect of fixed assels that have been acquired as part of business
combinations. OFf this amount, £11,212,000 (2020: £8,918,000) represens the deferred Inx liability on the value of assets that will be recovered
through use and £29,000 (2020, £212,000) the deferred 1ax asset that ia anticipesed to crystallise on an eventual sale of the ramaining assets at their
2e1 boak value.

-

i
i
i
;
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)
20. Deferred tax (continued)
Delerred tax assets relating to tax losses of £100,131,000 (2020 £70,758,000), and capital losses of £591,000 (2020: £591 000) have not been
recognised a3 there is ingufficient evidence that the assels will be recovéred.
The deferred 1 asset not recagnised in the financial statements is as follaws:
2011 2021 2030 2020
Tax value Gross value Tax value Gross vakie
£000 £000 £000 1000
Tax losses carried forward 300,108 400,431 70,758 372411
Capital losses 778 3,110 591 110
Deductible temporary differances — fixed assets 157 619 120 629
105,043 404170 71,468 376,150

Deferred tax assets on losses have been recognised in accordance wilh 1AS 12 in order to ofiset known tax liabilities. Whilst profits are aicipated in
{uture periods egainst which lp affsel additional brouglt farward tax losses, due o the bistory of Joss making and the uncertainties faced by the private
health market and the sensitivity of this market to the Covid pandemic no deferred tax asset has been recognised on the hasis of future profitability.

‘This will continue to be monitored 2t eacl balance sircet dare.

Tenporary dififerences arising in connection with interests in associates and joini ventures are insignificent

11. Trade sod other payaliles

Trade payables

Accruals

Sacial security and other taxation
Gther payabies

Tax payable

The average credit days is 40 days (2020, 52 days)

22, Provisions

AL January 2021
Additional provision in the year
Utilisasion of pravision

At 31 December 2021

QOf which falling dye;
- within vne year
- subsequently

2021 1010
£4400 £000

92,596 89,117

70,211 77,602

250 138

6,652 8,159

- 3,438

169,705 178,454

Prevision for Future pension Dilapidations

Tegnl claims commitnicny provision Tatal
£000 £'900 £'000 £'a00

16,656 19¢ 1,450 18,266

2,905 - - 2,208
{2,136) (16) {125) (3,2673

18725 154 1,328 17,204
15,725 36 1,325 17,028

- 1i8 - 113

As js usual in the sector, the Group is subject to a number of legal elaims. Provision has been made for the estimated costs of settiement, based on
management’s best estirate on a case-by-case basis of ke outcomes of settlements, eitlher in or aut of court, and using & projection of the costs of claims

incursed bat not yet reported

The defined benefit pension scheme provision reprasents the Group's estimated foture contributions ta two defined benefit pension schemes.

The dilapidations provisian relatcs to due in refation 10 various buildings that were vacated doring prior years.




Page 4%
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

23, Contracts with customers: nel asset

Unbitled receivables rep revenue recognised an less iated discaunts These amounts wall be billed in accordance with agreed-upon
contractual terms upon completion of trealment da patients.

Contract liabilities consist of advance payments and billings to patients in exccss of services provided and costs incurred and warranties on services
pecformed. Advance payments and billings are typically associated with our seffpay patients. Al contract liabilities are current

Al balances shown below are included in nare 18, trade and other receivables.

2021 2020
£000 £'100
Unbilled cevenue 7416 3317
Advance payments on self pay patients {5,625) (I,178)
2,191 2,{99
———

The contraet asset balance shewn is grass of any impairment losses Impaicmeat losses for Irade receivables are caleulated vsing a methadolory looking at
billed and unbilled reveaue callectively and therefore the provision on the assel balance shown is included within the net teade debtars balance shown in
note 19,

oy

T T

P —



Cirele Health Holdings Limited Towe 8 i
Nates to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 {continued) :
24, Share cagliad and share premium ;
Authorized 2021 2024 :i
s £ !
Ordinary shares (Class A Ordinery Shares) of £0.01 cach 945 945 1
Ordinary shares (Class B Ordinary Sharss) of £0.61 cach 104 100 i
Ordinary shares (Class C Ordinary Shares) of £0.01 each 10 i !
Preference shares of £0.01 each 15,851 19,851 ?
20,906 20,906 :{
Allotted and fully paid vp
Par value Shares 8hare capital Share premium ‘Tata) B
Ordinary Class A shares: {number} £ £ £ k
At 1 January 2021 0.0t 94,478 945 129,812,448 129,813,393
A131 December 2021 94478 845 129,312,448 124,813,393
Par value Shares Skare capital Sharz premiom Total &
Ordinary Class B shares: (number) £ £ £ %
At | January 2021 Q.01 10,000 160 195,162 399,262 £
At 31 December 2021 10,000 140 399,162 399,262
Par valug Shares Share capital Share premium Total i
Erdinary Class € shares (mumber} i £ i L
At | January 2021 0.01 1,000 10 - (1]
At 31 December 2021 1,000 10 - 10 P
Par value Shares Share capital Share premiom Total
Preferance shares: {nwmber) £ £ £ !
At 1 Janary 2021 0.0 1,985,075 19,851 71,264,390 71,284,141
Al 2Y December 2021 1,985,075 19,851 74,264,390 71,284,041
Allatted and fully paid vp
Par valoe Shares $hare capital Share premium Tatal
Ordinary Class A shaces® {number) E £ E
At | January 2020 .01 94,478 943 3,721,159 3,728,104
Shares issued 0.0l - - 126,084,689 124,084,589
At 31 December 2020 24,478 s 129,912,448 129,813,393
Par value Shares Share capital Shure premium Total
Ordinary Class B shares: (nuinber) £ i £
At 1 January 2020 Q.01 10,600 100 399,162 399,262
At 31 December 2020 1¢,000 100 399,162 399,262
Par value Shares Share capitsl Share premsium Total . ‘v
Ordinary Class C shares: {number) £ i £ i
At 1 January 2020 001 750 8 - 3 b
Shares isdued 0.0 250 2 - 2 o
At 3] December 2020 1,000 10 - 10 ‘
£
Par value Slaves Share capital Skare premium Total E
Preference shares. {number) £
At | Januaey 2020 .01 1,985,075 19,851 71,284,360 71,284,241
At 31 December 2020 1,985,075 13,851 71,264,390 71,284,141

The rights of shares are coniained in the Company’s Articles of Association and summarised below.

.
'
i

Voting
The holders of A and B shaves have e rghl to vote their shares at any general meeting of the Company. The halders of the Preference and € shares have

ra entitlenienl te vete theit shares at any general meeting af the Company but have the right to vote a class meeting of the Preference and C shares,

respectively.

COMe
The holders of Preference Shares have the right to dividends declared by the Company, provided that the ameunt of any dividend, in aggregate with otber .
dividends and distributians to the holders of Preference Shares, is not in excess of the paid up amount of those shares. Subject (o any priarity distribution '
of profits amangst the holders of Preference Shares, the holders of' A and B shares shalt receive dividends pro rata to the paid up amounl of those shares. R
The halders of C strares have no cights to reseive dividends,
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!
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24, Share capital and share premiom {cantinued}

Capital

The rights of holders of different classes of shares to capital under different scenarios, inclading exit events, arc ser out in the Company’s Articles The
priority aleapital is: ta holders af Preference Shares, up to the paid up amount of these shares; to holders of A and B shares, wilh the distribution between
shares contingent on the nature of the event, the amount involved and the returns to defined groups of holders of A and B shares; finally, to C shares, with
the entitlement 1o holders being contingent on the nature of the event and if the aniount associated with the exit event involved is in excess of defined i
returm hutdles to other sharehalders, in which cnse the € shares have the right ta participate in returns above defined burdies. :

Dusviung e year, MH Suivices btemational (UK § Lizmted, which held 40 per cent of the equity of the Company, acquired the remaining 60 per cent, This
included acquiting al! shares held by Dircctors of the Company and other employees of the Group. All thess shares had been acquired by these individuals
ar Fair value from other shareliolders in prior periods These arrangements fabl within the scope of IFRS 2 and ace treated as an equity-settied shace based
trausaction. [FRS 2 requires the fair value at geant dale of equity-settled share-bazed payment transactions to be expensed oves the vesling pericd with a 1
cotresponding increase i equity, taking into sccouni the best available estimate of the number of shares expected to vest under the service conditions As
thae shares fully vested in the year, a charge of £213,000 was made to the income statement with a carresponding credit in equiry.

25, Non-comrolling interests

There are two invesoments where nan-controlling parties exist: BMI Syon Clinic Limited, and North Wes{ Cancer Chinic Limited. A summary of francial
information for non-controlling interests are given belowe

2021 2020 A
L1000 £'000 F’
Total assets 4,536 4,499 v
Total ligbikities (1,052) (1,917 !
Net assets 3,483 2582
Prolit for the periad 886 645
Net cash cutflow )] (923)
Associated undertakings and equity accounted joint ventures
The Group accounts for all its investments in associates and joint ventores in its tidated f ial stak ts using the equity method, as set out in
nate 3, 3
A
2021 2020
£'000 £'000 "
At beginning of Lhe year 3,382 160
4,210 1,192

Share of profits during the year

Current liabilities

4,421 1,402
(111) {211)

Gross
Tax
Dividends received (2,450) (1,400}
Acquisitien of invesiment in associate - 3430
At end of the year 5141 1382 ]
Aggregated associates and foint ventures information is as follows:
2021 1620
£'000 £'000
Revenue 30,733 25498
Profit before ax 6,257 3,205 i
Tax 423} a5ty
Profit after tax 5334 23914 i
Property, plant and equiprent 71,508 1,544 :l
Currenl assets 10,574 9,485 i
5874 8457 |
L
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Notes to the financial statcments
for the yeur ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

6. Disposal of subsidiary

In earty 2021, the Group entered into a sale agreement Lo sell Circle Hopsital {(Bath) Lid and the transaction completed on | June 2021, The divestment was
effected a5 part of the agreed remedy following the CMA order issued as a result of the Group's acquisition of BMI Healtheare in 2020,

The net lisbilities of Circle Hospital (Bath} Ltd at the date of dispasal were as follows:

2021
£'000
Property, plant and equipment 21,330
Inventories 523
Trade atnd ather receivables 1,852
Bank balances and vash 1,063
Trade and other payables {16,284)
Net liabilities disposed of {1,416)
Gain on disposal 3,167
Totel cansideration 1!851
Satished by:
Cash and cash equivalents 3,851
Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Consideration received in cash and cash cquivalents 1,851
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of (1,063)
788

There wers no disposafs of subsidiaries made in 2020,

H
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27. Acquisilion af subsidiaries

18.

On 24 December 2019, the Company entered irito sharg purchase agreements ta acquire GHG Holdings Limited, the holding company of the BMI

1leaithcare group ("BMT) (the T} ion’). The Tr

t on & January 2020; therefore, prior to § Jaruary 2020 the Group was

comprised of Cirele Health Haldings Limited and its subsidiaries as lisled in the 2019 financia} year statutory accounts ("Pre Transaction Group's

From the 8 January 2020 the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) had issued an Initial Enforcement Order, requiring the business to continue to
operate separately {“Transitianal Phase’), until the order was reteased on the 23 June 2020, From this date the Growp was then comprised of Pre

Transaction Group and BMI (* Post Transaction Group®).

The nmounts reengmsed in respest of the identifiable assets scquired and liabilities assumed are as set out in the table below.

Financial assers

Tnventory

Property, plant and equipment
Tdentifiable intangible essets
Financial liabilities

Deferred tax linbifities

Total identified assets acquired and Labilities assumed

Goodwill

Tatal cansideration

Setisfied by:

Cash

Less cash and cash equivalent balances acquired
Tot#! consideration transferred

£000
118832
16,508
1,701 832
44,700
(1,757,365)
{13372)

111,224

117,463
228,689

261,200

{32.511)

214,689

Goodwill represents the expected synergies of combining the two companies, and the growth expected future trading pecfonmance of the acquired business.
The intangible assers of £44.7 miltion arising from the acquisition cansists of the brand, consultant refationships and software of the BMI group. None of
the Goodwill is expectad ta be deduetible for income tax purposes. See note 12 for details.

Acquisition-related costs (included in administrative expenses) amount to £1.6 milfion.

GHG Healthcare Heldings Limited contributed £885 million ravenue and £4.4 million to the Group’s profit for the period between the date of acquisition

and tlte reporting date,

Movements in net debit

Nel debt consists of cash and cash equivalents and includes leases, loans and other borrowings,

Cash at back aad on hand
Cash and cash equivalents 1egoned in assets held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and other barrowings
fease liabilities

Net dzbt

Atl January Non-cash At
2031 moverents Cash flow  December 2021
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
115,857 - (12,942) [01915
3,822 - {31.822) -
[15,679 - (16,764} (02,915
(211,885) (2,153} . (214,038)
{1,672,804) (14.778) 13.496 {1,674,086)
{(i7e5.010) RTCEEY) (3:268) [1,785.209)
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19. Notes to the cash Now statement

Net cash flow from aperating activities

201 200
£°000 £'000
{Restated)*
Loss before income 1ax from
Coalinuing operations {51,402) (63,244)
Loss before income tax including discontinued eperations {51402y (63,244)
Adjustments far;
Share of profit of assoctates (4,068) -
MNon-cash exceptional aperating items {note 5) 139! 16,626
Finance costs 137,376 136,515
Finance income (note 8) (54) (481)
Amortisation of intangible assets {note 11) 11,805 9,888
Drepreciation of right-of-use property, plan and equipment {note 13} 64,399 65,956
Depreciaiion of ather property, plan and equipment {nate 13) 28,752 26,532
Loss/profit) on dispesal of fixed assets 14,307 {2,247)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary (note 26) (3,267) -
Amounts vested under [FRS 2 (note 243 213 -
257.354 272,194
Operating cashflows hefore mavements in working capital 205952 208,550
Moveneuts in working capital:
- (Inerease)/decrease m inventories {350 258
- Decrease in trade and other receivables 5937 51,854
-~ Decrease in trade and other payables (27,146) {53,560)

184 303 208,202

*+ The prior year figures have been rastated to include working capital movenients relating to assets and lisbilities classified as held for sale. When
conipared to the figures presented in the prior year financial statements, the mavenient on inventaries hos decreased by £683,000, the mavernent an trade
and other receivables has decreased by £4,396,000, and the movement on rade and cther payabfes has decreased by £8,881,000

30, Retiremaent benefit plans

Defined contvibution scheme
The Group operates defined contribution retirenient benefit schemes for all its qualifying eniployees.

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
“T'otal contiibution casts charged to the income stytement in respect
of 9,739 (2020: 8,943) members §0,037 9,364

Defined benefit schenies

The Company spansos & funded dzfined henelit pensien plan for qualifying UK employees, the General Healthcare Group Limited Pension and Life
Assurance Plan. The Plan is adrmintisteced by GEHG (DB) Pension Trustees Limited, an independent srustee. The Trustee is required by law to act in the
interzst of all relevant benoficiaries and are ible for the in pokicy for the assets and ihe day-to-day administration of the benefits.

Under the Plan, employees are entitled to annual pensions an retirement at age 63 for each year of service. The Plan is closed to future acerual The level of
benefits acerued by members is based on the Jength of their Pensionable Service and their Pensionable Salaries al the earlier of the date on which they left
the Plan or the date at which the Plan closed 1o the firure ncerual of benefits.

a
i
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30, Retirement benelit plans {continued)

Profile of the plun

The Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) includes benefits for former employees and cucrent pensioness, The benefits under the Plan were sectred by way of
an insurance contract with Aviva in 2020, at which point about 63% of the liabilities were attributable to defermed peasioners and 37% 1o current
pensioners, We have nat been provided wilh any mare recent mnember data.

The Plan duration 1s an indicator of the weighted-aveiage time until henedit payments are made For (e Plan as 2 whole, the duration is approxinately |6
years,

Risks esseciated with tie plan

The Plan has now sold mast of its assets and entered fto an ankuity contract with Aviva. As such, many of the risks it was previously cxposed to lisve been
removed Inyestment, inflation and fongevity risk are removed as Aviva are cantractually cbliged to fiund members' benefits in the future. However, the
Trustee still retains the begal responsihility to pay mesibers' benefiia to each individual member.

Funding requirements

UK jegistatian requires that pension Plans are fundad prudently. The last funding valuation of lhe Plan was carried out by a qualified actuary as a1 30
Segtember 2018 and showed a surplus of £21M. Now that the buy-in is complete, the Company is a0 longer paying deficit contributions. The Plan 1s
expected (o ransilion to buy-out in the near futre and there will be o need for actuarial valuations in the future.

Reporting at 31 December 2021

The Siabilitics of the Scheme were valued as at 30 September 2020, using a data extract provided by the administralors For the purposes of valuing the
benefits secured under (he insurance contracl. These results were prajected to tha valuation date of 31 December 2021 atlowing for cianges in marke:
canditions, and differences in the financial and demographic assumplions. Thie prasent value of the Defined fenefit Obligation was measured using the
prajected unit eredil method.

The principal assumptions used to calculate the Habilities under TAS 19 are as follows:

2011 020

% %

Discount tale 2.0 L4
Future pension inereases 31 218
CPlinflation 26 22
RPIinflation 32 28

The financial assumptions reflect the nature and term of the Plan's fishitities

Mortality rate
Pensioner life exp y dasat 3L D ber is based on the S2P tables with scaling Factors of 103% for male deferred pensions, 100% fer male

curfent pensioners, 91% for female deferred pensianers and for 39% for fermale current pensioners. Future improvements in longevity are assumed in line
with the CMI 2020 projection rodel with a smoothing faetor of 7 and a long term rate of improvement of 1.25% pa Samples of the ages Lo which
pensioners are assumed to hve are es follows:

2021 2020
Life expectancy for male currently sged 65 863 6.4
Life expectancy for female currenily aged 65 89.2 893
Lifs expectancy at 65 for male currently aged 45 876 8.7

Life expectancy at 85 for female currently aged 45 90.8 90.3
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30, Retirement henefit plnns (eontinued)

Sensitivity te kep assumptions

The key assumptions used for IAS 19 gre' discount rate_ inflation and saitality (f different assumptions were used, this could have a materiaé effect on the
identicat values placed on the lirbilities and the insured asser, although the results you disclose would bz unlikely to change. The sensitivity of the results t

these assumptions is set out below.,

Change New value

Following a 0,25% decrease in the discaunt rate; £'000 1600
DBRO ul 31 Decembe 2021 4507 122,513
Surplus at 31 December 2021 - 3373
Fallowing n 0.25% increase in the inflation assumplion:
DRQO at 31 December 2021 2971 120,987
Surplus at 3| December 2021 - 8,373
Following n ane year increase in life expeciancy:
DRBRO a2 31 December 2021 5,007 123,021
Surplus at 31 December 2021 - 831
Preseni valne of obligaiion 2021 2020

£'000 £'000
At beginning of the pericd 125,593 -
Acquisitien of subsidiary - 108,253
Lnterest cosi 1,721 2,418
Actuarial foss (4,028) 20,198
Benefit paymenis {5,270y {5,276
At end of the yenc 118,016 125,593
Falr value of scheme asvets 2021 2020

£4000 £4000
At beginning of the period 134,011 -
Acquisition of subsidiary - 126,320
Expecied returs on scheme assels 1,839 23841
Actuarial (lassYgain (3,862) 10,387
Employer cantributions - 47
Benefit payments (5,270 (5,276}
Adminisisation expenses {329 (308)
At end of the year 126,389 134,011

Asset clusses of scheme assels

The IMlan assets are invested in the following asset classes. Afl invested asseis have a quoted market value in an acuive markel. None of the assels are

invested in the Company’s financial instrumerits o in property accupied by, or other assets used by, the Company.

2121 2010
£000 £100
Cash instruments and sterling deposits 8,069 8418
Cash at bank 304 -
Annuity contract 118,016 125,593
At end of G year 126,389 134,011

L
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30, Retirement benefit plans (¢antinucd)
The recenciliation to the amount showm an the balance sheet is as follows: 2021 2020
£'000 £000
Present value of obligation {118,016} {125,593)
Fair value of scheme nssets 126,389 134,041
Unrecagnised portion of scheme asseds (8.373) (B:18)
Net surples recngnised - N
The net pension charge gnised in the lidatzd income is as follows:
2021 2020
£4000 £7600
Administration expenscs 329 808
319 ROB
The net amaunt recognised in reserves is as follows:
31 December 31 Detember
2021 2020
£1000 £'000
Actuarial gain/(loss) on schieme obligalions - (20,198)
Actuarial {loss)/gain on scheme assets - 10,887
Mevement in unrecoguised pension sarplus 31 Deceniber2021 1,119
Actuariat 1oss on defined benefil pension schemes £'aao 808
Net effect in reserves arising from mavements on fisture scheme commitment 4028 (808)

Risks associgied with the plan

The Plan hos now sold most of its assets and entered into an annuity contract with Aviva As such, many of the risks it was previously exposed to have been
remaved. Investment, inflation and longevity risk are removed as Aviva are cantractually obliged to fund members' benefits in the future. lawever, the
Trustee siili retains the legal responsibility to pay membars’ benefits to each individual member,

Funding requirenients

UK legislation requires that pension Plans are funded prudently, The last funding valuation of the Plan vwas carried out by a qualified actunry as at 30
September 2018 and showed a surplus of £21 niillion. Now that the buy-in is complete deficit contributions is no longer needed. The Plan is expected ta
transition te buy-out in the near future and there witl be na need for actuarial valuations in the fiure.

Analysis of gainsflosses
Overall theré was a fotal actuarial gan of £0.2 million {2020: £0.9 million loss) during the year, which is hroken down as fallows.

Financial assumptions resulted in a gain of £5.1 million, mainly due 1o the increase in the discount rate assumption. This gain was partially offset by the
increase in the RPI inflati ption and related inflation-linked i Demographi: plions resubied in a gain of £0.3 million, maialy due o
changes in the mortality essumgtion, in purticular updating the CMI projection model. DBO experience resulted in a Joss of £1.3 million, mainly due to
higher than expected deferred revaluation and pension increases over the year. During the year, asset returns underperformed against the discount rate. This

was antirely due to the value of the primary asset, the insurance contract, being set to equal the value of the [inbilities.

H. Capital commitments

2021 1020
£'000 £°000
Capital cammitments
Contracted for, but not provided for, acquisition of property, plent and equipment 15,875 12,703

32, Assets held for sale

Tn the prior yenr, as required by the CMA order referenced in the Strategmie Report, the net asseis and liabilities for Cirole Bath were classified as held for
sate. This hospital was sold on | June 2021. See note 26 for detail on the profit on disposal of subsidiary.

2021 1020

£'000 £'000

Fixed assets - 21,083
Current assets - LT
Cash - 3,821
Tolal assets elassified as held for sale - 29,575

Liabilities directly associated with asscts classified as held for sate - (25,398)
Net assets of disposal group - 4,177

Ty s

DA ST T
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statcments
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

33. Finencial instromends and financial risk management

The Group's operaticns expases it to a variety of finaccial risks, that inciude market risk (including interest risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and
capital risk, The Group sceks to limit the adverse effects of these risks by manitenng levels of debt finance and the related finance costs, and by matching
the risks of the Financing with the risk and return profiles af the assets. The risks are monitored by management throughout the year via monthly reviews of
the aperationg] performance, cashflows, and Levels of debt instruments and overalf debr levels.

Classes of financial instrumends

The Group's financial instruments comprise of financial asstessuch as cash, shart-term depostls, trade and other receivables, financial liabilities such as
Dauk loans, luan notes, and trade and other payables,

The foliowing table classifies the Group's financial assets and Labilities in line with IFRS 9 Financial Instrunients'.

Fair value

through other Fair value
comprehensive thraogh profit

income and loss Amortised cost Total
As at 31 December 2021 £tno00 £000 £'000 £'000
Finaocisl assets
Trade and other receivables {note 18) - - 75,712 75,711
Cash and cash equivalents - - 102,915 02915
Total linaneial assets - - 178,627 178,627
Financial Jiahilities
‘Trade and other payabies {note 21) - - (59,248) {99,248)
Lease linbilities {note £ 7) - - (1.674,086) (1,674,086)
Tatal fioanciai liabilities - - (L773,334) (1,773,334)
As at 31 December 2020
Financlal assets
“Trade and other receivables (note [8) - - 76,515 76,515
Cash and cash equivalenis - - 115857 115,857
Tatal linancial assets - - 192371 192,372
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (note 21} - - (97,276) (97,276)
Lease labilities (nute 17) - - {1,672,804) (L,672,804)
Tatal fivancial liabilities - - (1,770,080) (1,770,080}

&) Markef risk

Mariet risk is the risk that changes it marke; prices, such as interast rates or other price risks, will affect the inseme from or the value of financiel
instrumervs. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control macket risk exposure within acceptable paramaters while optimising the

relurn on risk.
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33. Financial instruments and linancial risk management (¢ontinued) :
The Group is primatily impacted by interest rate risk and olher price risks which are outlined elow:

1) Interest rate risk E

Financial insttuments afiected by interest rate risk inglude loans and ollier borrowings. The Group is primardy sensitive to changes in UK inverest
rates. This affecls future cash fows trom leans and borrowings held.

Fized
£'000
At Dovewlie 2021
Loans and alher barrowings (note 19) 219,848
At 31 December 2020
Leans and ather barrowings {nole 19) 219,348 :

2) Dther price risks ?
The Graup has & number of lang-term contracls containing tixed indexation provisions. The Group generally seeks to price contracls at tevels that take

account of increasing prices. As the volume of private patients is anticipated ta increase in the future, ihe Group will be increasingly subject to pricing
changes from private insurancc companies.

The integrated care contracts operate under a capped revenue budget. The underlying principle assumed that the service can be run mare efficienily,
impraving patient expesience and reducing operational costs. Nevertheless, the Geoup bears the risk of rising operational costs as the baseline revenue
is fixed subject 1o local denagraphic o service portfolia changes.

) Credit risk

Credil risk is the risk if financial loss ta the Group is 8 customer of couder-party 10 a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual abligations, and
arises principally fram the Group's receivable from custamers and cash deposits, with their maximum exposure being represenied by their carrying ameunt,

The Group has policies with cuslomers Ihat require unfront payment, where appropriate. Cradit control procedures are designed 1o ensure that invaiced
tevenue is collected according ta agreed terms, that palicies exist Lo limit exposure io any one porty and ensure approved credit limits are reviewed
regularly. These help to eliminate significant concentrations of eredit risk.

Most revenues arise fram insored patients' busiiness and lhe NHS. Insured patients give rise to lrade receivables which are mainly due from large insurance
institutians, wha have high credit worthiness. The remainder of revenue arises from individual seli-pay patients,

In accordance vath TFRS 9, an expected credit loss model is used to celeulate the provision far impairment. This expected credit loss takes into
consideration the age af debtor balances, and the characteristics of the deblor, Credit risk management services are designed to try 2nd reduce the expeeted

credit loss to a minimum.

When utilising baok accounts and cash depaosits, the Group transacts with connterparties who have scund credit profiles. Such counterparties are primanly
large, highly rated financial institutions, Tn relation ta financial iustitutions, the Group allcoated a credit kimit based on external credit ratings. The
counterparty’s tolal outstanding transactions with the Group including bank accounts and cash deposits must nat exceed linits agreed fy the Board of
Directors.

¢} Liquidity visk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty 1n meeting its financial chligatrons as they falk due. The Group's epproach te hiquidity ista
manage short and long-tcrm borrowings 1o ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity ta meets its habilities when due, without incurcing
unacceptable lossses or risk daniaging the Group's repuiation,

This is zchieved by robustly managing cash generalion across its aperation, by applying cash collection targets tiroughout the Graup and by managing
liquidity nisk via long-term debt and equity funding from shareholders.

The table below analyses the Group's non-derivative and derivative financial ligbilities into relevant maturity groupings based an the remaining period at
the balance sheer date to the conbiact maturity date, The ameunts included in the table are the contraciual undiscounted cash flows:

Less than [ year Between 1-2 years Between 2-3 years Between 3-5 years Over Syenrs ¢

At 31 December 2021 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Trade and other payables (nate 21} (99,248 - - - - {
Lease liabilities (note 17} (126,455) (128,283) (129,746} (264,664) (3,587.243) !
Loans and ather batrawings (note 19} - - - - {219,848) ;
Net outflows (225,303) (128,283) (129,746) (264,664) (3,807,091) ;
AL 31 December 2020
]

Trade and other payables (note 21) (97,276) - - - - £
Lease liabilities {nate 17) (126,266) {129,241% (132,039 (270,409) (3,718,402 !
- - (219,848} i

Laans and other borrowings {note 19} - -

Net outflows (123,542) (129,241) (132,039} (270,409} (3,938,250)
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Notes to the financial statements
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33, Financial instrumenis and Feancial risk management {¢ominued)

M,

35,

36,

Lecase Labilities cashflows are discounted ta arive at the balance sheet position per nate 17, The impact of the disceunting is £2,656.7 million (2020,
£2,703.6 million) over the remaining term of the leases.

d) Copital risk

The primary objective of the Groug's management of debt and cquity is to ensure the continued growth of the business, inclduing e financing of new
hospitals, equipnsent and start-up costs, :oluding Heed Office costs, in order to pravide returns for the Group sharehnlders and ather stakeholders. The
Giroup raises financing whex needed through & combination of debt and equity.

Objectives are set out at the beginning of each year, in line with the imposed requirements and covenants of the sharcholder agreements. Covenants on the
debt facilities utilised by the Group are tested on a quarterly basis.

Events efter the repariing periad

On 25 May 2622 the Group refinanced its senier borrowing fcilities with a new £250 million, thres year, revolving facility. An initial £130 million of this
faciliry was drawn oz this date and this, along with £38 million of cash on hand, was used to repay the existing senior facilities in full. The remaining
undravn amount of £70 million remains available ta the Group 1o draw as required over the semaining term of the facility. The facility is guaranteed by the
Group™s ullimate parent pany, Centene Corporation and all ¢ ar¢ measurcd al the cansolidated Centens Corporation level. The facilities
provide the Group with & flexible facitity with a reduced borrowing cost, Na other subsequent events requiring separale disclosure under IAS 10 were
identified after the balance sheet date.

The Directars have considered the 17K Gaverment’s fiscal event on 23 Seplember 2022, including the potential impact on UK interest rates, currency
exchange rates, inflation, and other macreeconomic impacts, The Directors have considered the potential impact on the Circle Group and these financial
statenients including in respect of inflation, discount rates, pension liabilities, financial farecasts and other areas and do not believe that there is any
malerial adjustment or eddittonal disclosure required in these financial statements.

Related party iransactions

Trading transactions

During the fi ial year, trading, jons with the subsidiaries listed in note 14, accurred throughout the year as part of the narmal course of business.

R ation of key t personuel
Remuneration of key management personnet are those made 1o the Directors of the Company. Note 7 details the directors' emolumenis received during the

finanaial year. Other than directors there are no other key management personnel.

Other transactions with refated parties
‘Pransactions with Ribern Salud Group, a subsidiary of Centene, were made during the year totaliing £1,226,000 (2020: £330,000) These ¢osts related to

consultancy services receivad.
Controlling party

The Directors regard MH Services International (UK) Limited, a Company registered in England and Weles, a5 the Company's immediate parent
vadertaking and controlling pacty, as at the 3 December 2021 . The Directors regard Centene Corporation as the Company’s ultimate parent wndertaking as

at the 3] December 2021,

MEH Services Tnternananal Holdings (UK) Limited is the parent undectaking of the smallest and targest group for which lidated financis) st
are prepared that include the financial statements of the Company. Copics of the group financial statements for MH Services Internaticnal Holdings {UK)
Lirited may be obtained from 108 High Sireet, Great Missenden, HP16 0BG.

e
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Fixed assets
Investments
Loans to group companies

Currenf assets
Debtors
Cash al bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Net current liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium
Accumulated losses

Total shareholder's funds

Nates

10
10

31 December

31 December

2021 2020
£'000 £000
75,211 75211
121,714 125,736
196,925 200,047
90,005 2,714
14,964 5,049
104,969 7,763
(116,699) (21,057)
(11,730) (13,294)
185,195 187,653
21 21
201,476 201,476
{16,302) (13,844)
185,195 187,653

The Company has taken advantage of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own
income statement in these financial statements. The loss made by the Company for the year was £2.7 million

(2020: £1.2 million loss).

The financial statemcys of Circle Health Holdings Limited were approved by the board of divectors and

authorised for issue on<.2. September 2022.

They were signed on its behalf by:

Name: Henry Davies
Director
&€, September 2022

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The company's registercd address is 1st Floor, 30 Cannen Street, London EC4M 6XH, England.
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2021
Called up Share Accumulated
share capital premimm losses Total
£'000 £'000 £600 £000

Balance as at 31 December 2019 21 75,391 {11,417) 63,995
Shares issued (note [0) - 126,085 - 126,085
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - (2,427) (2427
Balance as at 31 December 2020 21 201,476 (13,844) 187,653
Amounts vested under [FRS 2 (note 10) - - 213 213
Loss and total comprehensive logs for the year - - {2,671) (2,671)
Balance as at 31 December 202] 21 201,476 (16,302) 185,195
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Notes to the Company financial stalements
for the year ended 3| December 2021

Accounting policies

The Company's accaunting policies are included within those disclosed on pages 25 to 34 of the Circle Health Holdings Limited consofidated group
financial statements.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Tn the npplication of the Group's and Company’s avwuuniing policies, judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions arc based on histarical
experience and other factors that are considered Lo be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The judgements and estimates that have the most significant cffect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements, and could have a
material impact on the financial statements in the following year, include:

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting pelicies

There are not deemed to be any critical judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Company's accounting policies in the financial
slalements,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumplions and estimates at the end of the reparting period, that have a significant risk of causing a materia! adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets and liabitities within the next financial year are discussed below;

Investments

[nvestmenls are recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The carrying amount of investments is assessed annwally, and the
useful lives of investments are considered 1o be indefinite. [n the event that this estimate is inaccusate, the recoverable amount and consequently the
cartying value of investments may be impacted.

Receivables

Receivables are recognised at cost less provision for daubtfisl debts, The carrying amount of receivables is assessed annually, and provisions recognised
based on the customer specific circumstances. In the event that this estimate is inaccurate, the recoverable amount and consequently the carrying value of

receiables may be impacted.
Profit and loss
The result for the year is a loss of £2.7 million (2020: £1.2 million koss).

The Company has taken advantage of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own income statement in these financia! statements.

Operating casts
The Company incurred £5,000 in zelation to UK statutory audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: £5,000).
Employees

Other than the Directors, the cntity did nol have any employees during the year {2020: nil), and therefore did not incur any staff costs during the year
(2020: £nil).

Directors' enolunients

Please refer to the Directors' emeiuments note in the Circle Health Holdings Limired consolidated group financial statements (note 7).
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Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

7 Investments
Shares in subsidiary undertakings
£'000
Cost
At 3] December 2020 and 31 December 2021 15,211
75,211

Net book amount at 31 Recember 2020 and 31 December 2021

The Direclos consider that the value of the Company’s {ixed asset investments, which are listed below, is supported by their underlying assets. No
provision for impainment of investiments has been made for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: £nil).
The Company has investments in the foliowing subsidiary undertakings, nssociates and other investments.

Company name Pl'ct[lm'l.mn of Share class Registered office Wature of business
votmgﬂhls held
Circle International plc 100% Holding
Circle Health Limited 100% Holding and management
Nations Healthcare Limited 100% Holding
Circle Noftinghawm Limited 100% Medical practice services
Circle Hospital (Reading) Limited 100% Medical praclice services
Circle Birmingham Limited 100% Medical practice services
Circle Rehabilitation Services Limited 100% Medical practice services
Circle Health | Limited 100% Holding
Circle Health 2 Limited 100% Holding
Circle Health 3 Limited 109% Holding
Circle Healih 4 Limited 100% Holding
GHG Healthcare Holdings Limited 100% Holding
Bishopswoad SPV Limiled 100% Provision of herltheare services
Circle Healih Group Limited 100% Provision of healthcave services
BMI Hospital Decontamination Limited 100% Provision of decontamination services
BMT Syon Clinic Limited 50% Lst Floor 30 Cannon Provision of kealtheare services
BMI Imaging Clinic Limited 50% Ordinary shares Street, Provision of bealthcare gervices
BMI Southend Private Hospital Limited ~ 50% London, England, Provision of healthcare services
Meriden H u_spltai Advanced Imaging 50% ECAM 63H Provision of healtheare services
Centre Limited
Three Shires Hospital LLP 50% Provision of healthcare services
General Healthcare Holdings (2) Limited  E0% Investment holding
General Healtheare Holdings (3) Limied  100% Investment holding
GHG (DB) Pension Trustees Limited 100% Pension funding
GHG Intermediate Holdings Limited 100% Invesiment holding
(GHG Leasing Limited 160% Provision of healthcare services
North West Cancer Clinic Limited 90% Provision of healthcare services
Runnymede SPV Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
South Cheshire SPV Limited 100% Provision of healtheare services
GHG Mount Alvemia Hospital Limited 100% Investment holding
Generale de Sante International Limited 100% Invesiment holding
Circle Clinical Services Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
TKH Holding Ltd 100% Holding
Circle Health MyWay Limited 100% Health plan subscription services
30 CIiff Court, Cliff Road,
Circle Harmony Health Limited 50% Qrdinary shares  Londen, Fopland, NW{  Management services
GAP
12 Castle Street,
: : P 5 . St. Helier, Jersey, .
Circle Holdings Limited * 100% Ordinary shares Channe! Tslands, Holding
JE2 3RT
Rum $05-506, %/F Houston
Circle Harmony Health Limited 50% Ordinary shares ~ Ctr, 63 Mody Road, T8T, Management scrvices
KLN, Hong Kong
Rm1145, {1/F, Carlton
Shanghai Circle Harmony Hospital 50% Ordinary shares g;dai I;]-Iti:;::?gtl;ct, Managemenl services

Management Limited
Shanghai, China

* Cireje Holdings Limited has a UK establishment named Circle Holdings (UK) Limited

All companies listed above are currently active.
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10

Debtors - amounts falling due within one year

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

£'000 £000
Debtors 42 2,618
Prepaymients and accrued income 319 96
Amounts ¢wed by group subsidiaries 89,644 -
90,005 2,714

Amounts owed by Group subsidiarics are unsecured, interest tree, have no fixed date of repayment and sse repayable on demand.

Debtars - zmounts falling in more than one year

31 December 2021
£'000

Amounts owed by group subsidiaries 121,714
Amounts owed by Group subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free, have na fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand,

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year

31 December 2021

31 December 2020
£'000

125,736

31 December 2020

£4000 £000
Trade and other ereditors 2 5,374
Amounts owed ta group undertakings 116,413 13,238
Accruals and deferred income 284 1,293
116,699 19,505

Amounts gwed 1o Group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayments and are repayable on demand.

Share capital and share premium

Refer Lo note 24 in the graup financial accounts for the details of share capital and share premium.
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Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Events after the reporting period

There were no events afier the balance sheet date that have materially impacted upon the financial statemenis of the Company. Refer to note 34 in the
Group accounts for further details.

Related party transactions

Transactions with Ribera Salud Group, a subsidiary of Centene, were made during the year totalling £499,000 (2020: £330,000) These costs related to
consultancy services received.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption from disclosing (ransactions with other members of the Group headed by Circle Eealth Holdings
Limited, provided that each party to the transaction is 4 wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The Directors regard MH Services International (UK} Limited, a Company registered in England and Walcs, as the Company's immediate parent
undertaking and cortrolling party, as at the 31 December 2021, The Directors regard Centene Corporation as the Company's ullimate parent undertaking as

at the 31 December 2021,

MH Services International Holdings (UK) Linited is the parent undertaking of the smallest and largest group for which consolidated financial statements
are prepared that include the financial statements of the Campany. Copies of lhe group financial statements for MH Services International Holdings (UK)

Limited may be obtained from 108 High Street, Great Missenden, HF 16 0BG



